Public Document Pack |
Teignbridge
\_ .gov.uk

E-mail:
democraticservicestdc@teignbridge.gov.uk

16 May 2025

PLANNING COMMITTEE

A meeting of the Planning Committee will held on Tuesday, 27th May, 2025 in the
Council Chamber, Forde House, Brunel Road, Newton Abbot, TQ12 4XX at 10.00 am

PHIL SHEARS
Managing Director

Membership: Councillors C Parker (Chair), Cox (Vice-Chair), Bradford, Bullivant,
Hall, MacGregor, Nuttall, Palethorpe, Sanders, J Taylor and Williams

Substitutes: Councillors Clarance, Ryan, P Parker, Hook, Parrott, Nutley, Atkins,
Thorne and Smith

Please Note:The public can view the live streaming of the meeting at Teignbridge
District Council Webcasting (public-i.tv) with the exception where there are confidential
or exempt items, which may need to be considered in the absence of the press and
public.

Please Note: Filming is permitted during Committee meeting with the exception
where there are confidential or exempt items, which may need to be considered in
the absence of the press and public. This meeting will be livestreamed on Public-i. By
entering the meeting’s venue you are consenting to being filmed.


https://teignbridge.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://teignbridge.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://teignbridge.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

Public Access Statement
Information for the Public

There is an opportunity for members of the public to speak on planning applications at
this meeting. Full details are available online at
www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningcommittee.

Please email democraticservicestdc@teignbridge.gov.uk or phone 01626 215112 to
request to speak by 12 Noon two clear working days before the meeting. This will be on
a Thursday before the meeting if the meeting is on a Tuesday.

This agenda is available online at www.teignbridge.gov.uk/agendas five clear working
days prior to the meeting. If you would like to receive an e-mail which contains a link to
the website for all forthcoming meetings, please e-mail
democraticservicestdc@teignbridge.gov.uk

General information about Planning Committee, delegated decisions, dates of future
committees, public participation in committees as well as links to agendas and minutes
are available at www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningcommittee

The Local Plan 2014-2033 is available at
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/media/1669/local-plan-2013-33.pdf

AGENDA

PART |
(Open to the Public)

1. Apologies for absence.

2.  Minutes (Pages 5 - 10)
To confirm the minutes of the last meeting.

3. Declarations of Interest.

If Councillors have any questions relating to predetermination or interests in items
on this Agenda, please contact the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.

4. Public Participation

The Chairman to advise the Committee on any requests received from members of
the public to address the Committee.

5. Chairs' Announcements

6. Planning applications for consideration - to consider applications for planning
permission as set out below.


http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningcommittee
mailto:democraticservicestdc@teignbridge.gov.uk
http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/agendas
mailto:comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk
http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningcommittee
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/media/1669/local-plan-2013-33.pdf

8.

Any representations or information received after the preparation of the reports and
by noon on the Friday before the planning committee will be included in the late
updates sheet.

All documents relating to planning applications can be viewed online at
www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningonline. In the case of sensitive applications
representations are not placed on the website. All representations are read by the
case officer and a summary of the planning matters raised is placed online instead.

a) 23/00305/MAJ - Shell Cove, Dawlish (Pages 11 - 40)

b) 23/00911/MAJ - Bakers Yard , Bishopsteignton (Pages 41 - 90)

Appeal Decisions - to note appeal decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate.
(Pages 91 - 92)

S73 Major Decisions Summary (Pages 93 - 94)

For Information - Upcoming Site Visit Dates

19 June, 17 July, 14 August


file:///C:/Users/Andrew.McKenzie/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/BTLFH15W/www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningonline

This page is intentionally left blank



Public Document Pack Agenda Item 2

PLANNING COMMITTEE

15 APRIL 2025

Present:

Councillors C Parker (Chair), Bradford, Bullivant, Hall, MacGregor, Nuttall,
Palethorpe, Sanders, J Taylor and Williams

Members in Attendance:

None

Apologies:

None

Officers in Attendance:

lan Perry, Head of Development Management

Natalia Anderson, Solicitor

Artur Gugula, Planning Officer

Steven Hobbs, Senior Planning Enforcement Officer
Christopher Morgan, Trainee Democratic Services Officer
Cheryl Stansbury, Area Team Manager (East)

85.

86.

87.

MINUTES

It was proposed by Councillor C Parker and seconded by Councillor Nuttall that
the minutes of the previous meeting be agreed as a correct record and signed by
the Chair.

A vote was taken. The result was 6 in favour, 0 against, and 3 abstentions.

Resolved

That the minutes of the previous meeting be agreed as a correct record and
signed by the Chair.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST.

None.

24/01348/FUL - TRACEY HOUSE RETIREMENT HOME, BOVEY TRACEY
The Planning Officer presented the item to the Committee.

Public Speaker, Objector — Spoke on:

3



Planning Committee (15.4.2025)

Town Council objects to the proposal

Opposition from all neighbours

Lack of public transport from site

Road that the site sits on is unsuitable

The site would be better suited for permanent residential use
No management or travel plan

Public Speaker, Supporter — Spoke on:

e Site owner for 34 years

e TDC Planning advice supported holiday lets

¢ No objection from DCC highways officer, who stated that the site would
result in a traffic decrease

¢ No data to show holiday units would be disruptive

e Management scheme on site plus natural screening to protect against
noise

e Dartmoor National Park have claimed they will not be impacted by this
application

Comments from Councillors during debate included:

e Concerns regarding the noise made by construction vehicles that can

operate per conditions between sunrise and sunset
e The conservatory on site could be reused
e Teignbridge as a planning authority must strike a balance between
tourism provision and local housing provision.

e Why are the lets the size that they are and could they be easily converted
into dwellings?
Does Teignbridge have enough accommodation for elderly residents?
Do we have figures for the number of lets required?
Lack of evidence of need, for example no business plan submitted
How close is this application to Dartmoor National Park?
What was the timeline for the decision to change use?
Concerns around loss of jobs
Objection from Town Council
The current site is not in use so jobs will not be lost
Could the application be turned into residential use?
The application is contrary to the Neighbourhood Development Plan
The 6 proposed units must be considered as a single site and not as
individual lets
Will the owner retain the business as a holiday letting agency?
Lack of sufficient choice of retirement homes in the area
How was the decision made to consider residential use non-viable?
The location would be good for development but not the proposed use.

In response to Members’ comments, Officers clarified the following:
e A condition regarding construction hours would be reasonable
e The existing construction hours exist to protect bats and other wildlife

O]



Planning Committee (15.4.2025)

e The balance between local housing provision and tourism is determined
per area or ward, for Bovey Tracey this is not a concern

e The sizes of the lets is not a policy consideration

e The LPA cannot demand a change of use

e The test of housing provision for elderly resident would have to be
undertaken by the relevant Town or Parish council.

e Mulberry House was able to take in residents when Tracey House closed

e The care home could not continue as it was not viable in the current
market

¢ A timeframe was provided regarding decision to change use

¢ |t would not be a minor policy amendment to recommend change of use
to residential use and would not be in the Committee remit

e The neighborhood plan has the same weight as other plans

e Business rates cannot be a planning consideration

e Evidence as set out in the business place can be provided if decision
would be deferred for it

It was proposed by Councillor J Taylor and seconded by Councillor Bradford that
permission be refused due to the application being contrary to Policy WE12 in
the Local Plan

A vote was taken. The result was 6 in favour, 0 against, and 4 abstentions.
Resolved

That permission be refused due to the application being contrary to Policy WE12
of the Local Plan.

Note:

The decision to refuse this application was contrary to Officer recommendation.
Members considered that there was insufficient evidence to support the loss of
facility required to satisfy policy WE 12, which outweighed any benefits of the
application.

E2/28/70 - Westbrook House, Teignmouth

The Area Team Manger (East) presented the TPO to the Committee.

Comments from Councillors during the debate included:

e Concerns around the tree shedding branches

Concerns around the tree’s age

No accommodation or parking space beneath the tree
Tree is an attractive and prominent landmark for the town
Tree can still be removed if necessary

In response, officers clarified that Devon Tree Services had examined the tree
and were satisfied with the proposed order.

It was proposed by Councillor J Taylor and seconded by Councillor Bradford that

3



b)

Planning Committee (15.4.2025)

decision be deferred to confirm the exact age of the tree, however this proposal
was withdrawn.

It was proposed by Councillor C Parker and seconded by Councillor Palethorpe
that the TPO be confirmed unmodified as set out in the report.

A vote was taken. The result was unanimously in favour.
Resolved

That the TPO be confirmed unmodified.
E2.25.04 - Combe Hill Cross, Kingsteignton

The Area Team Manger (East) presented the TPO to the Committee.

Comments from Councillors included:
e No properties within this block but pedestrians do walk here
e Trees should be monitored for issues such as ash dieback

It was proposed by Councillor Macgregor and seconded by Councillor J Taylor
that the TPO be confirmed unmodified as set out in the report.

A vote was taken. The result was unanimously in favour.
Resolved

That the TPO be confirmed unmodified.
24/00045/ENF - Haldon Site, Kennford

The Enforcement Officer presented the case to the Committee.

Comments from Councillors during the debate included:
e Concerns around the housing situation of the occupants
e Concerns around changing a previous enforcement notice and as a result
the landscape for appeal
¢ No licenses for dwellings

In response, Officers clarified the following:
e The notice provides ample time to for occupants to be rehomed
¢ The updated enforcement notice brings the planning application and
enforcement case in line, which allows the applicants to appeal against
the same reason for both
e There is no foul drainage on site

It was proposed by Councillor C Parker and seconded by Councillor Bullivant
that enforcement action be taken as set out in the report.

A vote was taken. The result was 7 in favour and 3 against.

8



d)

Planning Committee (15.4.2025)

Resolved

That an Enforcement Notice be issued under Section 172 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 to:

i.  Cease using the land for the siting of caravans for residential purposes, and,
ii. Remove the caravans and any other items associated with the unauthorised
residential use from the land.

The compliance period is recommended to be six months.

In the event of the Notice not being complied with, the Solicitor be authorised to
take further action as necessary under Section 179 of the Act.

20/00104/ENF - Bovey Heath, Bovey Tracey

It was proposed by Councillor C Parker and seconded by Councillor Macgregor
that as per section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and
public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of this item on the
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in
Paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

A vote was taken. The result was 9 in favour and 1 against. The Committee
meeting then excluded press and public.

The Enforcement Officer presented the application to the Committee.

Comments from Councillors during the debate included:
e The relevant planning application had been withdrawn
e The site is reaching the 10-year enforcement immunity period
¢ Planning policy should be upheld for all applications

Before the vote the Committee returned to being open to press and pubic.

It was proposed by Councillor Hall and seconded by Councillor Bradford that
decision be deferred to give those living on site more time to prepare.

It was proposed by Councillor J Taylor and seconded by Councillor Macgregor
that the enforcement notice be served as set out in the report but with an
amendment that the compliance period for each area be lengthened to a
maximum of 18 months. This was an amendment to the previous motion.

A vote was taken. The result was 6 in favour, 1 against and 3 abstentions.

A vote was then taken on Councillor J Taylor's motion as it was now the
substantive motion. The result was 7 in favour, 1 against, and 2 abstentions.

Resolved



88.

89.

Planning Committee (15.4.2025)

That an Enforcement Notice be served to:

Cease using the land for the siting of static caravans for residential
purposes,

Remove the mobile homes from the land,

Demolish the unauthored buildings and structures and remove the
resulting debris from the land.

The compliance period for (i) (ii) and (iii) be a maximum of 18 months.

In the event of the Notice not being complied with, authorisation is given to take
action as necessary including proceeding to prosecution.

APPEAL DECISIONS - TO NOTE APPEAL DECISIONS MADE BY THE
PLANNING INSPECTORATE.

The Committee noted the appeals decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate.
The Head of Development Management highlighted an appeal that had been
allowed by the inspectorate. It was noted that the Planning Officer had
considered that the dwelling lacked space for amenities and waste, as per the

nationally described space standards, however the inspector had approved on
appeal as these standards were not included in TDC Planning Policy.

S73 MAJOR DECISIONS SUMMARY

The Committee noted the Major Decisions Summary Sheet.

The meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 11.48 am.

CLLR COLIN PARKER

Chair

16



Agenda ltem 6a_

Jelanbiidge

Planning Committee Report

Chairman: Clir Colin Parker
Date 27 May 2025
Case Artur Gugula
Officer

Location | Site Of Shell Cove House 19 Old Teignmouth
Road Dawlish Devon EX7 ONJ

Proposal |Construction of 13 townhouses with associated
landscaping, access, and infrastructure
(Revised scheme)

Applicant | Affinity

Ward Dawlish South West

Member(s) | Clir Alison Foden, Clir Mike James

Reference | 23/00305/MAJ

Online Details and Documents

RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION GRANTED

[rown Copyright and database rights 2025 Oranance Survey 00024202 %7

wash Gardens

Netapy; of



sally.barham
Typewritten text
PERMISSION GRANTED


1. REASON FOR REPORT
This has been called in by Dawlish Town Council for the following reasons:

e Sufficient drainage works still needs to be done as requested by network Rail
on this application and previous applications.

e There is no plan for 10% net gain on biodiversity.

e More information on the water drainage strategy is required by Teignbridge
before the application can progress.

e A land stability report needs to be undertaken as the buildings will be within
200m of the cliff edge and numbers 9, 10, 11 12 & 13 are in an area of great
landscape value and are too close to the cliff for the railway.

e The Grandfather rights to the footpath for Network rail could be
compromised.

e |tis overdevelopment of the site.
e There are climate change concerns with the site.
2. RECOMMENDATION
PLANNING PERMISSION be granted subject to:
(a) The Applicant/Landowner first entering into a Section 106 Agreement to secure:

e Affordable Housing contributions of £265,627; and

e Habitat Regulations Assessment contribution of £3,041 to offset
recreational pressure on the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar site and Dawlish
Warren SAC; and

e Provision of a Travel Pack and £300 sustainable travel voucher for each
dwelling to promote the use of sustainable modes of transport.

(b) The completion of the s106 Agreement within 6 months of a resolution to grant
planning permission, subject to any extension to this date being agreed with the
Executive Member for Planning. In the event that the s106 Agreement is not
completed within this period (or an agreed extension), delegation to the Head of
Development Management to refuse the planning application due to the lack of
obligations as set out in (a) above.

And the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall begin before the expiry of three years from
the date of this permission.

REASON: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

12



2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
application form and the following approved plans/documents:

Date Received

Drawing/Reference Number

Description

07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-31-HOUSE TYPE 02 Elevations (02_02)

07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-30-HOUSE TYPE 02 Elevations (01_02)

07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-29-HOUSE TYPE 02 Roof Plan

07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-28-HOUSE TYPE 02 First Floor Plan

07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-27-HOUSE TYPE 02 Ground Floor Plan

07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-26-HOUSE TYPE 02 Below Ground Floor Plan
07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-25-HOUSE TYPE 01 Elevations (02_02)

07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-24-HOUSE TYPE 01 Elevations (01_02)

07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-23-HOUSE TYPE 01 Roof Plan

07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-22-HOUSE TYPE 01 Second Floor Plan

07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-21-HOUSE TYPE 01 First Floor Plan

07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-20-HOUSE TYPE 01 Ground Floor Plan

07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-09 Comparative Site Section
07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-08 Comparative Site Section
07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-07 Proposed Site Section
07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-06 Proposed Site Section
07 Mar 2024 1180-GA-03 Proposed Block Plan

09 May 2024 GE-SHELLCOVE-02 REV A Planting Plan

09 May 2024 | GE-SHELLCOVE-01 REV F ;‘?r”a‘ﬂ]sgcjrgzrﬁgl‘ae;a'

09 May 2024 | 1180 GA-10 REV A ;Qgﬁﬁgg 'EZ‘;‘;EEZ'&” and
09 May 2024 1180 GA-03 REV A Proposed Block Plan

09 May 2024 1180 GA-001 Ordnance Survey Plan

13




REASON: In order to ensure compliance with the approved drawings

Prior to commencement conditions

3. Prior to commencement of the hereby approved development the following
drainage details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority:
(a) A detailed drainage design based upon the hereby approved Drainage Statement
(Report Ref. 1086.DS, Rev. A, dated 23rd May 2024) and the Response to
Drainage Comments document (HCE1086, dated 6th March 2025); and

(b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt runoff from the
site during construction of the development hereby permitted; and

(c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water
drainage system; and

(d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site; and

(e) A detailed assessment of the condition and capacity of any existing surface water
drainage system/watercourse/culvert that will be affected by the proposals. The
assessment should identify and commit to, any repair and/or improvement works
to secure the proper function of the surface water drainage receptor.

The approved detailed surface water drainage scheme shall then be implemented in strict
accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of any of the hereby
approved dwellings. Then the scheme shall thereafter be retained and maintained in
accordance with the approved management details.

REASON: In the interest of ensuring that the site is served by an appropriate surface water
drainage management system which would not cause an increase in flood risk either on
site or elsewhere. The details are required prior to commencement as it is essential that
the proposed surface water drainage system is shown to be feasible before works begin.

4. Prior to commencement of the hereby approved development a tree and hedge
protection plan and a method statement setting out the details and timetable of how the
retained trees, hedges their respective root protection areas will be protected during the
construction phase of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then proceed in strict accordance with
the approved details, and the protection shall remain in place for the entirety of the
construction phase of the development.

REASON: In the interest of protecting the retained trees and hedges on the site some of
which are subject to a Tree Preservation Order for the benefit of the visual amenity of the
area. The details are required to be prior to commencement as it is essential to ensure that
the trees and hedges are suitably protected since the beginning of the development
including any site set up.

5. Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have
received and approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including:
(a) the timetable of the works;

(b) any road closure;

14



(c) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site,
with such vehicular movements being restricted to between 08:00 and 18:00
Mondays to Fridays inclusive; 09:00 to 13:00 Saturdays, and no such delivery or
vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays unless
agreed by the Local Planning Authority in advance;

(d) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the
development and the frequency of their visits;

(e) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished
products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the
demolition and construction phases;

(f) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload
building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing
materials and waste with confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery
vehicles will park on the County highway for loading or unloading purposes,
unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local Planning Authority;

(9) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site;
(h) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and,

(i) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to
limit construction staff vehicles parking off-site;

() details of wheel washing facilities and obligations;
(k) the proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes;
() details of the amount and location of construction worker parking;

(m) photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to
commencement of any work.

The development shall be carried in strict accordance with the approved details.

REASON: In the interest of highway safety and neighbouring residential amenity. This
detail is required prior to commencement as impacts can occur immediately upon works
starting.

6. Prior to commencement of the hereby approved development details of the
confirmed heights of retaining walls and structures, finished floor levels and material
treatment of all retaining structures in accordance with drawing referenced 1180 GA-10
REV A (Proposed Levels Plan and Retention Feature) shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.

REASON: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved levels strategy in the interest of landscape and visual amenity of the area as well
as impact on residential amenity of neighbouring properties. The details are required prior
to commencement as any ground and levelling works are likely to be undertaken at the
earliest stages of the development.

15



Prior to installation/commencement of certain works conditions

7. Prior to their first use in the construction of any of the hereby approved dwellings,
details, specification and samples of all facing, roofing, window and door materials, and
boundary treatment materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall then be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.

REASON: In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure the development will harmonise
visually with the character and appearance of the site and its surroundings.

Compliance conditions

8. The development hereby approved shall proceed in strict accordance with
precautions, mitigation measures and enhancement as described in Section 5 of the
Ecology Report (by South West Ecology dated 23rd March 2023) referenced SWE 798
VERSION NO: 1.

REASON: In the interest of protecting legally protected species and to ensure biodiversity
enhancements are delivered as part of the development.

9. Any works associated with the hereby approved development shall only take place
between the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 Mondays to Fridays inclusive; 09:00 to 13:00
Saturdays, and no working on the site to take place on Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays.
No lighting shall be left on over-night during the construction phase. Works compounds to
be located away from existing roosts, new roost building, hedges and other retained
vegetation. Works compounds lighting to be PIR activated security lighting only on short
timers (1 minute maximum), directed away from bat roosts, hedges and trees.

REASON: To permit continued use of the site by light-averse bats.

10. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
Energy Statement — Phase 4 received on 4th March 2024 and the Travel Plan referenced
1086.TP REV A. The measures described within the statement and the plan shall
thereafter be maintained and retained for the life of the development.

REASON: In order to ensure that the development plays its part in reducing carbon
emissions.

11. The hereby approved landscaping and planting scheme shall be implemented in
strict accordance with the hereby approved drawings referenced GE-SHELLCOVE-01
REV F (Landscape General Arrangement Plan) and GE-SHELLCOVE-02 REV A (Planting
Plan) within the first available planting season following the first occupation of any of the
hereby approved dwellings. The landscaping and planting shall thereafter be retained,
maintained and managed in accordance with the hereby approved Landscape and
Ecological Management Plan (July 2024) REV B. Any trees or plants that, within an
establishment period of five years after planting, are removed, die or become seriously
damaged or defective, shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with other
species, size and number as originally approved.

REASON: In the interest of securing the implementation and ongoing management of the
submitted landscaping scheme designed to complement the development in respect of its
visual and landscape amenity.

16



12.  Prior to the first occupation of each of the hereby approved dwellings, the air source
heat pumps as identified on drawings referenced 1180-GA-20-HOUSE TYPE 01 (Grand
Floor Plan) and 1180-GA-26-HOUSE TYPE 02 (Below Ground Floor Plan) in accordance
with details set out in the Energy Statement - Phase 4 shall be installed, operational, and
thereafter maintained and retained to serve each of the dwellings.

REASON: In order to ensure that the development plays its part in reducing carbon
emissions.

13.  Prior to the first occupation of Unit 01 and Unit 04 as identified on drawing
numbered 1180-GA-03 (Proposed Block Plan) hereby approved the windows on the first
floor south west elevation and fits floor north east elevations as identified on drawings
numbered 1180-GA-30-HOUSE TYPE 02 (Elevations 01_02) and 1180-GA-31-HOUSE
TYPE 02 (Elevations 02_02) and shall be fitted with a minimum of level 3 obscured
glazing over the entirety of the window with no clear areas and shall thereafter be
permanently retained in that condition.

REASON: In the interests of adjoining residential amenity.

14.  Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no development of the types described
in Classes A, AA, B, C, D, E of Part 1 and Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 (which includes
extensions, alterations and means of enclosure to the dwellings) shall be undertaken on
the premises (other than those expressly authorised by this permission).

REASON: To ensure that the character and appearance of the locality are protected.

15.  No external lighting shall be installed on, or in association with, the new buildings,
except for low-lumen, LED, PIR motion-activated lights on a short timer (maximum 1
minute), sensitive to large objects only (to avoid triggering by bats or other wildlife). Any
such lights shall be mounted in association with doors only, at a height no greater than
1.9m from ground level, directed and shielded downward and away from hedges and
trees. The lights shall produce only narrow spectrum, low-intensity light output, UV-free,
with a warm colour-temperature (2,700K or less) and a wavelength of 550nm or more.

REASON: For the benefit of legally protected light-averse bats.

16.  Visibility splays shall be provided, laid out and maintained for that purpose at the
site access where the visibility splays provide intervisibility between any points on the X
and Y axes at a height of 0.6 metres above the adjacent carriageway level and the
distance back from the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public highway (identified as
X) shall be 2.4 metres and the visibility distances along the nearer edge of the carriageway
of the public highway (identified as Y) shall be 17 metres to the left and 43 metres to the
right.

REASON: To provide adequate visibility from and of emerging vehicles in the interests of
highway safety.

3. DESCRIPTION

Planning History

17



3.1. The relevant planning history for the site is listed as below.

3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

14/02798/S0O: Screening opinion for demolition of block of ten flats and 3 houses
and redevelopment to provide 15 dwellings and 16 flats with integrated landscaping,
access, parking and associated services — EIA not required.

14/02780/MAJ: Demolition of block of ten flats and 3 houses and redevelopment to
provide 9 dwellings and 16 flats with integrated landscaping, access, parking and
associated services — Approved.

15/02590/FUL: Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to form six
cottages for later living with car parking, landscaping and access - Approved.

16/00300/MAJ: Demolition of the existing house and cottages and redevelopment to
provide 11 cottages and 17 apartments for later living, with a separate
summerhouse building, integrated landscaping, access and parking and associated
services. — Approved

20/00805/FUL: Formation of six dwellings, garages and associated works. -
Approved

20/02400/FUL: Erection of carport to serve approved East Cottages - Approved

20/02145/MAJ: Variation of condition 2 on planning permission 16/00300/MAJ
(Demolition of the existing house and cottages and redevelopment to provide 11
cottages and 17 apartments for later living, with a separate summerhouse building,
integrated landscaping, access and parking and associated services) to amend
design of inland — Approved

21/00661/MAJ: Variation of condition 2 on planning permission 20/02145/MAJ
(Demolition of the existing house and cottages and redevelopment to provide 11
cottages and 17 apartments for later living, with a separate summerhouse building,
integrated landscaping, access and parking and associated services) to amend
design for cottages 7-11 — Approved

The Site

The application site of the former Shell Cove House is located towards the southern
edge of Dawlish atop a red cliff that is characteristic of the area. The railway line
with Shell Cove beach is located below. Access is via the entrance on the western
boundary from Old Teignmouth Road.

The local environment is characterised by red cliffs, grey and reddish stone work,
green landscapes and blue sea waters. Recent (adjacent) developments within the
applicant’s ownership have a refined material palette of timber, brick and high-
quality glazing with associated landscape works.

Application 16/00300/MAJ granted redevelopment of the site for 11 cottages (inland
and to the roadside) and 17 apartments (two blocks set back east into the site). The
demolition of the large, subdivided house and row of cottages along Old
Teignmouth Road has taken place as granted under the original consent
(16/00300/MAJ). The 11 cottages albeit varied from their original design under
applications 20/02145/MAJ and 21/00661/MAJ have now been completed. These

18



are referred to as Phases 1 and 2. The two blocks of apartments remain to be
constructed. It should be noted that the original age restricting condition has been
removed as part of 20/02145/MAJ. The site also accommodates a development of 6
terraced dwellings in the northeastern part granted under 20/00805/FUL, referred to
as Phase 3.

3.5. The land generally slopes from west to east down towards the cliff with a footpath
leading to Shell Cove beach below. To the north the site is bound by existing
dwellings, to the east some vegetation is present with the cliff and the railway
below. To the south a series of trees of varying sizes and hedges screens much of
the site. Finally, to the west the site is adjacent to the road with the recently
completed development forming the boundary of the site.

3.6. There are a number of neighbouring properties within and adjacent to the site. Shell
Cove itself accommodates 17 recently constructed dwellings within the three
phases of the development located along the north and east edges of the site.
Between Phases 1 and 2 are also the detached dwellings known as Shrimp Lodge
and Bradenton House. To the north of Phase 1 is also the detached Pappilon 17B.
Within the site itself there is also Woodpeckers along the northern boundary which
was formerly a large single dwelling now converted into a number of flats. The
below image shows the arrangements described above.

3.7. For further context the site plan including the consented apartments and patrial
elevation showing their 2 and 4 storey scale is reproduced below.

N

' S
& Phase 1-Blue (nos.6 & .‘“ () &
-11 Shell Cove) 7 (s 2 Gy i A5
; R ‘ NA Phase 3 - Yellow
(nos. 12 -18 Shell
Cove)

o

-Phase 2-Green
(nos. 1-5Shell

19



il
L 1 ] | uu"
[

- M I

.ﬂ 4

/T, Centrepiece Apartents - Proposed South West Elevation
ey

1 Akaminiom o gulam cstan wal
Yo S coe. Tiauem 30
Pans compostien o fkow.

Ot fconseoms Cenppce
e Whsen st

576

e

kT
bz ’
oy
- PLANNING
3, Cantrepiece Apatments - Proposed North West Elevation (CP Esst) FE R - Propossd.
& T st 1700 SR, | w0 5w

f Please refer to
ki individual layout
drawings for building
section & elevation
| markers

landscape proposals

REVISED
PLAN

- =

[} sro_maoTl é_.

\ PLANNING
Froposed Sa Layo. - Reot Pan -

4 > s k ) |
i L B ‘ = /
o . R | =~

A

20




3.8.

3.9.

3.10.

3.11.

The Proposal

The application proposal seeks consent for 13 new dwellings and associated
landscaping within the central and eastern proportion of the site. The dwellings are
an alternative proposal to replace the yet to be constructed apartment buildings.
The dwellings would be arranged in 5 blocks — 3 blocks of 3 terraced houses on the
northwest-southeast axis of the site, and 2 blocks of semi-detached on the
northeast-southwest axis. The dwellings would be flat roofed 2/3 storey high with
the ground floors partially sunken (split level) and gradually responding to the
natural slope of the site towards the southeast. There are two house types
proposed each featuring 4-bedrooms over a total floor area of 221sqm. Each
property will have a private garden, and boundaries will be treated with hedging and
timber fences as previous development phases at Shell Cove. Each dwelling would
be served by 2 external car parking spaces in addition to an integrated garage
providing an additional space. 4 visitor parking spaces are provided within the
northwestern part of the site. The proposal is relatively low density due to the
sensitive location and constraints on site which provides an opportunity to provide
shared landscaped areas for occupiers of the whole development. These include
footpaths with access to Shell Cove beach.

The proposed materials palette reflects those used in earlier phases of the
development, which mainly includes timber cladding, buff brick and powder coated
aluminum windows. Each home would feature inset balconies, raised roof lights
over stairwells and upper floor cantilevers. The design of the houses incorporates a
fabric first approach in respect of its carbon reduction credentials, utilising passive
house orientation for solar gain and enhanced insultation to promote efficiency. It is
also proposed that air source heat-pumps, EV charging, and efficient mechanical
ventilation is to be deployed.

Emerging Teignbridge Local Plan 2020-2040

The examination hearings for the emerging Teignbridge Local Plan 2020-2040
(thereafter referred to as the eLP) have been concluded. The post examination
letter from the Planning Inspectorate dated 18" December 2024 has stated that the
plan is likely to be found sound subject to the modifications agreed at the hearings
and in the letter. The Council is currently in the process of preparing a Main
Modifications version of the plan to be consulted upon. There are a number of
policies within the emerging plan which did not attract modifications. As such, due to
the advanced stage of the plan and in accordance with the requirements of
paragraph 49 of the NPPF considerable weight is given to relevant emerging local
plan policies unless otherwise stated.

Principle of the Development

The defined settlement limit of Dawlish runs centrally through the site which means
that units 1-7 would be within it, and units 8-13 would be outside. Whilst the
principle of residential development for the upper part of the site would be
permissible under provisions of Policy S21 of the Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033
(thereafter referred to as the LP), those outside the limit would be classified as
development in the open countryside where provisions of policy S22 apply. The
policy strictly limits development in countryside locations where proposals for open
market dwellings are not supported in principle. Thus, in assessing the development
as a whole it would be in conflict with the provisions of policy S22.

21



3.12. Policy GP3 of the eLP mirrors the general approach to the principle of development
as set out above. Proposals for open market residential are not supported in
principle outside of defined settlement limit. Accordingly, assessing the
development as whole it would be in conflict with policy GP3.

Undeveloped Coast

3.13. Policies EN2 of the LP and EN2 of the eLP set out the protections and requirements
for development within the Undeveloped Coast. Whilst it appears that some third-
party contributions have indicated that proposal site falls within the Undeveloped
Coast, this in fact is not the case. The boundary of the designation runs along the
vegetated southern edge of the site. Nevertheless, the eLP policy EN2 does set out
requirements for developments that may affect the Undeveloped Coast. The
requirements are as follows and will be assessed further in the report:

e Conserve and enhance the key landscape, seascape, and historic character of
the undeveloped coast, including the significance of heritage assets within their
coastal settings; and,

e conserve and enhance the estuaries and coast as important wildlife habitats
and corridors; and,

e where appropriate and feasible, development will take opportunities to improve
public access to, and enjoyment of, the coast, subject to criteria a and b above.

Area of Great Landscape Value (AGLV)

3.14. The eastern proportion of the proposed development (units 7-13) are located within
the LP designated AGLV where policy EN2A seeks to protect and enhance the
areas landscape and seascape. The AGLYV is a historic designation based around
outdated boundaries and assessments. As such, the designation has not been
carried over to the eLP, however the Landscape Character Area Assessment
(LCAA) have been renewed. New eLP Policy EN4 seeks for the development to
conserve and enhance the District’s landscape, seascape and townscape character
more widely based on the LCAA for that specific location. Consequently, the
proposal’s landscape and seascape impacts are assessed on the basis of Policy
EN4 of the eLP. The landscape and seascape impacts in respect of conservation
and enhancement of the setting of the Undeveloped Coast in accordance with
policy EN2 of the eLP is also assessed here.

3.15. The site is split between two landscape character types as identified within the
LCAA- the cliffs (LCT 4H) and the main towns (LCT 7). The cliffs LCT is
characterised by near vertical landform, deep red colour, marine influences and
extensive views. The main town’s LCT is not assessed within the LCAA due to its
urban nature where a more localised evaluation of local built environment can be
undertaken on case-by-case basis. In appraising the proposal in respect of
landscape impacts it is important to take account of the current and former use of
the site with its associated physical features. The areas where some of the new
dwellings are proposed were formerly occupied by a large, detached property
known as Shell Cove House which has now been demolished. Areas to the north
accommodated a pool and tennis court. The area to the west was the extensive
domestic garden of the property. Currently the land has been used for storage of
plant machinery, building materials and portacabins in association with other
development taking place on site. There is an existing extant planning permission

22



3.16.

3.17.

for two large apartment blocks in the upper part of the application site. As such, the
former and current use of the site already detracts from the typical character of the
cliffs LCT.

Generally, views of the from the north and west are obscured through existing built
environment and vegetation. The railway is located considerably lower, below the
site therefore the views from trains would be limited. The main landscape sensitive
receptors in respect of public views would be from the south along the southwest
coast path and some potential long-distance views from the sea. The proposed
layout of the scheme has been designed to respond to the natural slope of the land
towards the eastern cliff with the dwellings gently stepping following the natural
topography. The proposed landscaping scheme provides generous on plot planting
and within the shared amenity area. The planting is proposed to be native, with
coastal species and orchard trees paying tribute to an orchard which previously
featured elsewhere on the site. The vast majority of the boundary vegetation is to be
retained with some enhancement specifically to the south in order to bolster the
green enclosure of the site. The submitted cross sections show that the tops of the
flat roofs of the proposed properties would not be any higher than that of the
existing surrounding development. As such in potential views from the sea the
scheme would not appear prominent and would be seen with a backdrop of existing
built environment. From the coastal footpath, glimpses of the development would be
possible, however again this would not appear overly prominent as it would be seen
with the backdrop of existing development. The proposed materials and appearance
of the dwellings, whilst modern would assimilate well with existing properties on site
and general varied character of the built environment along Old Teignmouth Road.

It is also materially important to review the scheme in respect of the fallback position
which is provided by the consented apartments scheme. Whilst these would not
project out towards the cliff and into the AGLV in the same way as the now
proposed scheme, their visual impact would be much greater. This is due to their
overall height and positioning within the more elevated part of the site. This is
evident on the submitted comparative sections reproduced below. As such, bearing
the above assessment in mind it is considered that the proposal would not have an
unacceptable impact on the surrounding landscape and seascape. It would also
help to conserve the appearance of the setting of the Undeveloped Coast through
provision of a more visually sensitive scheme compared to that which is already
approved. Consequently, the proposal is considered to be compliant with policies
ENZ2A of the LP, EN2, and EN4 of the eLP.

23



3.18. The application has been accompanied by a detailed landscaping and planting plan,
as well as a landscape and ecological management plan. In order to ensure that the
proposed landscaping is delivered it is recommended that compliance with the
submitted details, the implementation and ongoing management of the landscaping
scheme is secured via condition.

Site Section A-A
1:500 @ A3

O TR T TR TR TR TR
- \

» ST BRVINT UERRT RECET RELET R e

Site Section B-B
1:500 @ A3

. Profile of approved scheme

Site Section C-C
1:500 @ A3

Site Section D-D
1:500 @ A3

. Profile of approved scheme

24



3.19.

3.20.

3.21.

3.22.

3.23.

Impact Upon the Character and Visual Amenity of the Area.

Policies S1 and S2 of the LP seek for new developments to be of high-quality
design which would integrate well within the surrounding character area and
landscape. Policies GP1 and DW?2 of the eLP reflect this requirement. Policy DW2
deploys a principle based requirements for good quality design where assessment
of proposal against local context, identity and built from which play an important part
in the acceptability of the proposal.

In addition to the assessment made on landscape impacts of the proposal,
consideration is also given to the impacts on general character and visual amenity
of the area. The site is not within a Conservation Area, and there are no designated
heritage assets in close vicinity. The proposed layout responds to existing semi-
uniform arrangements well, replacing a previously proposed more ad-hoc approach.
The blocks of 2 and 3 dwellings somewhat replicate the terrace present at Phase 3.
The proposed materials palette responds to those present elsewhere on site. The
dominant timber cladding, when weathered will help the development assimilate into
the landscape. The flat roof design whilst modern, again responds to development
present elsewhere on site. The varied built environment present on Old Teignmouth
Road allows for more flexibility in respect of the design within the area. Owing to its
set back position on site, views of the proposed dwellings would not be possible
from OIld Teignmouth Road, and this would be obscured by existing development
within the site. Equally, as assessed above the impacts of the development on
surrounding views has been found acceptable. In addition to the landscaping
condition, it is considered appropriate to secure the submission of details and/or
samples of materials to be used in order to ensure that those match with others
elsewhere on site. In addition, it is noted that the levels strategy sets out some
requirements of retaining walls in order to deal with the topography on the site.
Whilst the heights of the retaining structures are not confirmed using the spot
heights on the drawings it is considered that these would not cause any undue
concern. A condition requiring confirmation of the heights and materials to be used
for the retaining walls is considered appropriate. Finally, in order to retain the
character of the proposed development as well as to protect the sensitive landscape
it is necessary to remove certain development rights for extensions, alterations and
boundary treatments at the site.

Based on the above, and including the recommended conditions the proposal is
considered to comply with policies S1 and S2 of the LP, GP1 and DW2 of the eLP.

Impact on Residential Amenity of Neighbouring Properties and Future Occupiers of
the Development

Policy S1 of the LP seeks for all developments to perform well against criteria set
out within it. These include ensuring that proposals do not have a harmful impact on
residential amenity of surrounding properties, as well as the future occupiers of the
dwellings. This approach is mirrored in Policy GP1 of the eLP. Policy H12 of the
eLP, which specifically focuses on protecting the living conditions of nearby
residential occupants.

There are a number of surrounding properties adjacent to the proposed
development that could be affected in various ways. It is acknowledged that several
letters of objection from the nearby properties have been received raising concerns
about impacts of the proposal on their residential amenity. A number of the

25



3.24.

3.25.

3.26.

3.27.

objections raised concerns about views from their properties, therefore it should be
noted that the right to view is not a material planning consideration. Otherwise, the
following assessment of impact on neighbours is made in respect of privacy,
potential for overbearing and outlook impacts, overshadowing and loss of natural
light, and noise and odour disturbance.

In respect of noise and odour, the relatively modest increase in dwellings within the
site associated with the proposal would not pose any evidenced noise concerns
which would go beyond the usual levels of noise associated with a residential use.
Similarly, residential uses do not usually attract unacceptable odour impacts, and
there are no chimneys or flues proposed that would indicate the intended use of log
burners.

Woodpeckers is the closest residential property to the proposed development. The
closest plots are Unit 5 to the southeast at approximately 20m, and Unit 1 to the
northeast at approximately 27m. These distances are sufficient in order to avoid any
immediate concerns in respect of privacy and overlooking in accordance with the
Technical Advice Note for Homes and Building in the Teignbridge District Wide
Design Code (Appendix 4). The row of Units 5 — 13 is offset to the northeast from
the central axis of the seaward aspect of Woodpeckers, thus mitigating any direct
impacts on outlook, overshadowing, and loss of light. The submitted levels plans
and cross sections clearly demonstrate that the total height of the flat roofs would
be set below the eaves of Woodpeckers due to being sunken within the sloping
topography. Units 1 — 4 are located further to the north with a side-to-side
arrangement. For the same reasons as aforementioned, these units would not have
any unacceptable impact on outlook, overshadowing and loss of light. Their main
aspect would be east to west however southwest facing windows on the first floor
are marked as being obscured glazed to further maintain privacy. This can be
secured via a suitable condition.

The completed Phase 1 of the Shell Cove development is located to the north of
Units 1 - 4 with the closest distance to the boundary of the garden being
approximately 26m, and the building-to-building distance being approximately 41m
at the closest point. It is acknowledged properties at Phase 1 have a somewhat
unconventional arrangement with the entrance to the properties being located within
what would usually be described as rear gardens. The boundary treatments are
lower thus some overlooking from the adjacent shared areas already exist. The
proposed units would feature habitable room windows facing in each other’s
direction due to their orientation, however in accordance with Design Code
guidance the back-to-back distance of 20m would be maintained. The site levels
and sections show that the dwellings would have their total height set below those
at Phase 1. Their orientation together with the distance from Phase 1 properties
means that any overshadowing would be very limited. In respect of impact from
Units 5 — 13, the separation distance would be approximately 57m. The dwellings
would be set on lower ground with their total roof height set below that Phase 1.
Thus, due to the separation distance, this part of the scheme would not result in
unacceptable residential amenity impacts on dwellings at Phase 1.

The separation distance between Units 1- 4 to Shrimp Lodge and Bradenton House
to the north is approximately 40m. In respect of Units 5 — 13 this distance is
approximately 70m. Both of the properties are separated from the proposed
development through features including, trees, other buildings and the internal
private road. The proposed units would be no higher than those located in Phase 3

26



3.28.

3.29.

3.30.

3.31.

3.32.

of the development. As such, the separation distance and intervening features
would mitigate against unacceptable impacts of privacy and other enjoyment of the
existing occupiers of those properties.

The completed Phase 3 of the development would be within 9.5m of the proposed
Unit 3 and 4. This would be in a side-to-side arrangement separated by some
landscaping and part of the private road. Phase 3 dwellings would not be
detrimentally affected by any other units within the development. The northeast
elevation of Unit 4 features upper floor windows which are marked as obscured, and
these can be secured as such via condition. The side-to-side arrangements would
not cause any additional overlooking over and above that experienced mutually by
occupiers of Phase 3. The proposed recessed balconies would help to obscure
some of the viewing angles. In addition, the arrangement would avoid any
overbearing and overshadowing impact as the northeast elevation of Unit 4 would
not be adjacent to the garden areas or any windows providing the main outlook for
habitable rooms.

Approximately 70m to the west of the site is no. 25 Old Teignmouth Road, which
due to the separation distance, intervening development, vegetation and the
development being set on lower ground would not suffer unacceptable impacts to its
residential amenities. Similarly, although located somewhat closer in the same
direction (approximately 50m) are dwellings associated with the completed Phase 2
of the development. The residential amenities would not be affected for the same
reasons as those relating to no. 25 Old Teignmouth Road.

Finally, in respect of impact on 17B Papillon, the separation distance from the
closest part of the proposed development would be 60m. As with some of the other
properties located at that distance it is considered that due to the separation
distance, intervening development, vegetation and the development being set on
lower ground the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impacts of the
residential amenity of that property.

Overall, due to reduced height and reflecting the topography of the site the now
proposed scheme would offer a betterment in respect of outlook compared to the
approved apartments scheme. Bearing all of the above in mind, it is considered that
the proposal is complainant with policies S1 of the LP, GP1, and H12 of the eLP.

Affordable Housing

In accordance with provisions of Policy WE2 of the LP and H2 of the eLP the
proposal is expected to deliver affordable housing at threshold of 25% which equals
to 3 units. In consultation with the Council’s Housing Enabling Officer it has been
considered that it would be most appropriate to secure an off-site contribution for
this development. This is due to potential of high service charges associated with
this development. In addition, it is likely that a registered provider would not be
willing to accept this small level number of units. Given that the development
features 4-bedroom units it is required to seek the contribution based on delivery of
such units — this equal to a total of £477,627 (3 x £159,200). As part of the existing
consent on the site which includes the not yet constructed apartment the applicant
has already paid affordable housing contributions in full totaling £212,000. As such
given that the apartments have not yet been built it is appropriate to deduct the
already paid amount from the total sought at this stage. Consequently, to ensure

27



3.33.

3.34.

3.35.

3.36.

3.37.

3.38.

compliance with the above policies it is proposed that a contribution of £265,627 via
a S106 obligation is sought.

Drainage

The application site is within Flood Zone 1 (low flood risk) and is not within any
Critical Drainage Area. Policy EN4 of the LP and EN6 of the eLP seek for all
developments to deal appropriately with surface and foul water. The SuDS
hierarchy is expected to be followed in respect of surface water. The proposed
surface water drainage system seeks to discharge run-off via an existing outfall pipe
into Shell Cove. It is proposed to use an attenuated system utilising a geocellular
underground tank to restrict the flow ensuring that the downstream network has
sufficient capacity. Filter drains and permeable paving has also been deployed
across the site to improved quality of the surface water run-off. In consultation with
the Lead Local Flood Authority and Network Rail this approach has been
considered appropriate as infiltration is not viable on this site due to the proximity to
the cliff. Based on the above principles of surface water drainage on the site being
established it is appropriate to secure the detailed drainage design, and ongoing
maintenance and management via as suitably worded prior to commencement
condition.

Foul drainage is proposed to be connected to the existing network within the site
which then discharges into the South West Water public sewer.

Subject to the above assessment the surface and foul water proposals are
considered acceptable.

Biodiversity

Policies EN8, EN11 and EN12 of the LP, and policies EN10, EN12, EN14 and EN15
of the eLP all seek to protect biodiversity, legally protected species and relevant
designated sites as part of any development.

The site is located within within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone
designated for greater horseshoe bats which use linear features such as hedges to
navigate through the landscape. As such, the protection of such features and
limiting any lightspill to which the bat species are averse is key within the
Connectivity Zone. The applicant has submitted an Ecology Survey, a Landscape
Scheme, and a Landscape Ecological Management Plan. The submitted details
demonstrate that there would be limited loss of habitat as most of the site
compromised and amenity grass owing to its former use. It has been set out that the
site’s boundary hedges would be protected. The landscape scheme is generous
and would provide habitat enhancement through tree, hedge and grass planting. It
is considered necessary to secure compliance with the Ecology Report, limit
external lighting, and limit construction hours via condition in order to ensure that
the Landscape Connectivity Zone features remain protected.

The application site is within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA and Dawlish Warren
SAC and is therefore subject to the requirements of the 2017 Conservation of
Habitat and Species Regulations. In the absence of bespoke mitigation, a Habitat
Mitigation Regulations contribution of £1157 per additional dwelling is required to
offset in-combination recreation impacts on the SPA and SAC. A net gain of 13
dwellings is proposed, i.e. a total of £ £15,041 is required to be contributed.

28



3.39.

3.40.

3.41.

3.42.

3.43.

3.44.

3.45.

As part of the existing consent on the site the developer has paid HRA contributions
of £12,000 which was based on the net gain of 15 dwellings charged at £800 at the
time. Whilst the contribution per dwelling has now increased, it is appropriate to take
the already paid contributions into account, therefore only the difference between
the two totals is sought. The remaining £3,041 is required is to be secured via a
S106 obligation. With this in place, the LPA, as Competent Authority, is able to
conclude that there will be no effect on the integrity of the European site(s) such
that this does not constitute any reason for refusal of the development.

In the context of biodiversity, the proposal is considered to be compliant with
policies EN8, EN11 and EN12 of the LP, and policies EN10, EN12, EN14 and EN15
of the eLP.

Trees

There are a number of trees located around the perimeter of the site some of which
are subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). The development has been
designed to avoid most of the root protection areas (RPAS) as the larger trees
provide screening and visual amenity benefits for the site. It has however been
inevitable that 4 trees would require removal — three of these are TPO trees. These
are listed as below

e T596 Monterey Pine (Category B — TPO)
e T584 Austrian Pine (Category B- TPO)

e T572 Monterey Pine (Category B - TPO)
e T571 Norway Spruce (Category C)

In order to offset the lost trees, the proposed landscaping scheme proposes 13 new
trees to be planted which include fastigiate oak, silver birch, monterey pine and
variations of apple trees. It is noted in the submitted survey that the trees are
identified as Category B and C trees with moderate visual amenity contributions. It
is also taken into account that whilst the scheme would result in some tree removal
it would offer a betterment in respect of its impacts on landscape and neighbouring
outlook. Bearing this in mind, and the fact that there would be a net increase in a
number of trees on the site the proposed removal of the trees is justified.

In order to ensure that the retained trees and hedges are protected during the
construction period it is required that a method statement and tree protection details
are submitted prior to the commencement of the development. This is to be secured
via a suitable condition.

Climate Change

Policies S7 and EN4 of the Local Plan seek for all new developments to contribute
to reducing carbon emissions. Policy CC2 of the eLP seeks for applications to be
accompanied by an Energy and Carbon Statement which would address the
principles of the energy hierarchy. It should be noted that the net zero requirements
within the policy for major development applies only from plan adoption.

An Energy Statement has been submitted with the application which sets out that a
fabric first approach will the deployed across the development. The focus is on

29



3.46.

3.47.

3.48.

3.49.

3.50.

reducing heat loss, low air permeability and air tightness through quality of
construction. A mechanical ventilation system is also proposed which deals with air
handling and reduces risk of condensation. The development would bring significant
u-value improvements of Part L1 of the Building Regulations. Furthermore, each
dwelling would be served by an air source heat pump and EV charging points. In
order to ensure that the dwellings are delivered to the described standards
compliance with the submitted Energy Statement and submission of SAP
calculations for at least 50% of the dwellings is recommended to be secured via
condition. The installation of the air source heat pumps prior to occupation is also
recommended to be secured via condition to ensure compliance. It is not
considered necessary to secure the EV charging points via condition as these are
now a requirement of Building Regulations.

It is noted that that upon request of the Climate Change Officer, details on
overheating risk assessments and supporting mitigation measures have not been
submitted. These are not considered necessary at this stage as information relating
to overheating is subject to requirements of Part O of the Building Regulations.

Provision for travel vouchers is to be secured via a S106 contribution. The site is
located along the main route through Dawlish and is in close proximity to a bus stop
with a number of services. As such, in order to encourage future occupiers to use
public transport which may also spur behavior change the contribution is necessary
to ensure compliance with the above policies. The site whilst on the edge of Dawlish
is also conveniently places in respect of alternative modes of transport. The site is
located relatively close to the town center where services can be reached (17-
minute walk). The existing pedestrian network can be used to navigate the route
safely. Due to the nature of the surrounding roads cycling also remains a viable
option.

With all the above in mind, it is considered that the proposal is compliant with
policies S7 and EN4 of the LPA, and policy CC2 of the eLP.

Highway Impact

The application site is served by an existing access approved as part of the extant
consent on the site. The application has been accompanied by a submitted
Transport Assessment and a Travel Plan. It is expected that in peak AM and PM
time the proposed development would attract 8 trips per hour which would be lower
during non-peak times. The existing access junction and the local road network
does not currently suffer from capacity issues, therefore in consultation with the
Highway Authority it is concluded that this scale of development would not have a
detrimental impact on highway safety and capacity. Policy DW3 requires at least 3
parking spaces to be provided for a 4-bedroom dwelling and this is considered to be
complied with. Each dwelling would benefit from two external parking spaces and
one parking space within the garage. There are also 4 visitor parking spaces
proposed in the northern part of the site.

The Travel Plan sets out the context of the location of the site in respect of safe
walking and cycling routes, access to public transport and proximity to services
within Dawlish Town Centre. It is considered that sustainable transport options
alternative to the private car would be available to the future occupiers of the site.
As part of compliance with policies S9 of the LP and CC4 of the eLP itis
appropriate to secure the provision of a travel pack with travel vouchers worth at

30



3.51.

3.52.

3.583.

3.54.

3.55.

least £300 for each household in order to promote the use of sustainable modes of
transport and encourage behavioral change. Furthermore, compliance with the
Travel Plan is to be secured via condition to secure its objectives and outcomes in
relation to sustainable travel.

In order to minimise the disruption caused by the development during its
construction along the local road network and to protect local residential amenity it
is considered appropriate to require the submission of a Construction Management
Plan prior to commencement of the development. Finally, in order to ensure that the
access is retained in the current manner to provide sufficient visibility splays a
compliance condition is recommended for the visibility splays to be maintained and
retained.

Waste

The scheme proposes for bins to be stored in the integral garages to the front of the
properties. The garages have direct access from the entrance hall which would
make it a convenient space for bin storage. The applicant has also submitted a
swept path analysis to demonstrate that with the proposed turning areas the private
roads can accommodate the refuse vehicles. Whilst the Council’'s Refuse Officer
has raised concerns about the road being private in respect of serving as access to
waste vehicles, the applicant has signed an appropriate waiver to release the
Council from any potential damages to the private road as a result of use by refuse
vehicles. With the waiver in place, the proposed waste management arrangements
are considered acceptable.

Cliff Stability

It is noted that a number of third-party contributions as well as the Town Council
comments have raised concerns regarding the stability of the site and the potential
impact on the cliff and the railway line. As with previous applications on the site
Network Rail as the landowners and operators of the rail infrastructure located
below the cliff have been consulted on this application. Following direct discussions
between the applicant and Network Rail initial concerns and objections have been
overcome through submission of appropriate information relating to drainage.
Subsequently Network Rail have withdrawn their previous objections and
recommended a number of considerations for the applicant in respect of
engagement with their asset protection team and maintaining access to the cliffs
below for any potential future inspection and remedial works. The response also
provides advice to the applicants regarding engagement in respect during specific
works taking place during construction which are to be included as informative on a
potential approval decision notice.

For clarity, Network Rail’s previous response to the application dated 11" June
2024 it has been confirmed that the cliff below the site is indeed owned by Network
Rail.

Education Contributions

The application has been subject to consultation with the DCC Education back in
2023. It has been established that the development would generate an additional of
3.5 primary school pupils and 2.1 primary school pupils. Initially, a financial
contribution has been sought to provide direct infrastructure within primary and
secondary schools in Dawlish to accommodate pupils from the development as at

31



3.56.

3.57.

3.58.

3.59.

3.60.

the time capacity was limited. A further consultation with DCC Education has taken
place given the time which has elapsed since their initial comments and the
likelihood of circumstances changing. The new consultation has revealed that the
contributions are no longer sought as there is now sufficient capacity within primary
and secondary schools. As such these are not recommended to be included in the
S106.

Response to Other Comments Raised by Consultees and Third Parties

There has been a number of issues raised in the third-party contributions which
have not otherwise been addressed the report above and are dealt with in turn
below.

Over 55s age restriction condition

It has been suggested that the age restriction condition as it was imposed as part of
the previous consents should be imposed on this development. This is not
considered necessary as there is no policy that would require this specific restriction
to be imposed in this case. It should be noted that the condition was also removed
from the previous consents via subsequent variation applications for the same
reason as stated above.

Lack of Statement of Community Involvement

It is acknowledged that the submission does not include a Statement of Community
Involvement which is a requirement of the current validation checklist for major
applications. However, the submission was made before the adoption of the current
checklist with the previous version only stating that it is strongly encouraged that
such statement is prepared and submitted. The submission of the statement is also
not a requirement of the NPPF. Whilst it would be best practice for community
consultation to be undertaken by the developer, and such statement to be
submitted, it is not considered that local residents have be prejudiced in providing
contributions as the application has been subject to the statutory consultation
requirements.

Concerns that development would be sold as second homes

The current LP does not include specific requirements to prevent new properties
from being second homes, although this is a valid concern in certain areas of the
district. It is noted that policy H1 of the eLP seeks to address this, with all new
dwellings in areas which include Dawlish to have a suitable mechanism to secure
the homes as primary residences. However, this requirement is not being sought for
the proposed development currently. This is due to lower weight that should be
currently applied to this emerging policy. The examining Inspector’s letter of 18t
December 2024 includes policy H1 as requiring main modifications which will need
to be consulted upon. As such modest weight should be afforded to this policy and
its requirements should be applied with caution. On that basis, the primary
residence requirement is not applied.

Dawlish Cliffs SSSI

Concerns have been raised in respect of the development’s impact on the Dawlish
Cliffs SSSI located to the northeast of the proposal at a distance of approximately

32



3.61.

3.62.

3.63.

3.64.

3.65.

3.66.

3.67.

300m. It is considered that due to this separation distance the proposal would not
have impact on the SSSI.

Concerns over construction activity taking place within the exclusion zone

The submitted plan clearly shows the boundary of the construction exclusion zone
where it is indicated that no development will take place.

Comments from Designing Out Crime Officer

It is noted that the Designing Out Crime Officer has raised a point regarding the
entrances in respect of ensuring that these are subject to sufficient surveillance. It
should be noted that the wall enclosing the entrance to the front is low and thus
would allow sufficient lines of sight and overlooking.

Planning Balance

As set out within the report the proposal is considered to be compliant with most
relevant policies of both the current and emerging local plans. It has however, been
concluded that it would not comply with policies S22 and GP3 due to parts of the
development falling outside of the defined settlement limit.

Bearing the above in mind, the settlement limit issue is assessed pragmatically due
to the boundary dissecting directly through the site. All of the proposed dwellings on
the site would benefit from the same sustainability criteria attributed to its location
within the settlement limit of Dawlish. The town provides key services, employment
and education services to its residents with such being conveniently accessible
(including sustainable modes of transport) by the future occupiers of the
development. An increase of 13 dwellings, bearing in mind that 17 apartments are
consented on this site would not disproportionately contribute to the intensification
of Dawlish, relative to is role and the availability of local services. The development
would be seen with the backdrop of existing built environment and would not appear
as an undue extension of the town, bearing in mind that existing built environment
(within the settlement limits) extends further to the south of the site albeit on the
opposite side of the A379. As such, for the reasons above, the individual
assessment of the context of the site in respect of the settlement limit is given
considerable weight.

Furthermore, consideration is given to the consented apartment fallback scheme
which whilst being located fully within the settlement limit, due to its scale would
pose greater impacts than that of the currently proposed scheme. The benefits
include betterment in respect of reduced impacts to landscape, visual amenity of the
area, and residential amenity of the neighboring properties. Consequently, these
reduced impacts are given considerable weight.

Taking the described material consideration into account in accordance with
provisions of paragraph 2 of the NPPF it is considered that the material
considerations outweigh the harm resultant from conflict with policies S22 of the LP
and GP3 of the eLP. Therefore, approval of the application is recommended.

Conclusion

The approval of the application is recommended subject to the conditions set out
above and securing of the listed S106 obligations.

33



4. POLICY DOCUMENTS

Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033

S1A Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development
S1 Sustainable Development Criteria

S2 Quality Development

S6 Resilience

S7 Carbon Emission Targets

S9 Sustainable Transport

S21A Settlement Limits

S22 Countryside

WE?2 Affordable Housing Site Targets

EN2 Undeveloped Coast

EN2A Landscape Protection and Enhancement
EN3 Carbon Reduction Plans

EN4 Flood Risk

EN5 Heritage Assets

ENS8 Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement
EN11 Legally Protected and Priority Species
EN12 Woodlands, Trees and Hedgerows

Emerging Teignbridge Local Plan 2020-2040

Teignbridge Local Plan 2020-2040 was published on 14 March 2024 and has been
submitted for public examination. The National Planning Policy Framework sets out that
decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to their
stage of preparation, the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant
policies, and their degree of consistency with policies in the National Planning Policy
Framework. The following emerging policies are considered relevant to the proposed
development:

GP1: Sustainable Development

GP2: Development in Teignbridge

GP3: Settlement Limits and the Countryside
CC1: Resilience

CC2: Energy and Carbon Statements

CCa3: Electric Vehicle Infrastructure

DW1: Quality Development

DW2: Development Principles

DWa3: Design Standards

H2: Affordable Housing Targets

H12: Residential Amenity

EN2: Undeveloped Coast

EN3: Coastal Change Management Areas
EN4: Landscape Protection and Enhancement
ENG: Flood Risk and Water Quality

EN10: Biodiversity and Geodiversity

EN12: Legally Protected and Priority Species
EN14: Exe Estuary and Dawlish Warren

34



EN15: South Hams SAC
EN16: Trees, Hedges and Woodlands
EN17: Heritage Assets

National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Practice Guidance

5. CONSULTEES

Network Rail (3 March 2025)

No principle objections with the applicant recommended to consider the below:

e Applicant required to engage with Network Rail asset protection throughout the
scheme.

¢ Network Rail require access to steps down to Shell Cove to enable feature
inspection and other remedial works of the cliffs.

Other advice also provided in respect of ground levels, foundations, ground disturbance,
site layout, piling, and excavations. This information is to be included in the decision notice
as informatives as per previous application on this site.

DCC Lead Local Flood Authority (28" March 2025)

No in-principle objections subject to pre-commencement condition/s securing the following:

e Detailed drainage design.

Details of surface water drainage system during construction.

Proposals for adoption and maintenance of the drainage system.

Plan showing exceedance flows and their safe management
e Assessment of the condition of the existing system.

TDC Affordable Housing

Off-site affordable housing financial contributions agreed for £477,627.00.

TDC Biodiversity Officer

Conditions recommended as below:
e Accordance with Ecology Report.
e Limiting hours of works (or otherwise accord with CMP).

e Limiting of external lighting

35



TDC Environmental Health

No objections

TDC Waste

Unable to support application unless the private roads are in ownership of a maintenance
company and an appropriate waiver is signed to remove liability for damage to roads from
TDC.

Designing Out Crime Officer

One issue raised regarding the dwelling primary entrances being ‘recessed, covered
entrances. It is recommended that entrances are afforded good surveillance and
opportunities to enable residents’ clear lines of sight.

DCC Education

Initially sought financial contributions of £109,273 based on additional 3.5 primary school
pupils and 2.1 secondary school pupils generated by the development to fund
infrastructure to increase school capacity. Further consultation response dated 15" May
2025 confirmed that contributions are no longer sought as there is no capacity within
Dawlish’s primary and secondary schools.

TDC Climate Change

e Confirmation sought that the proposed EV chargers would comply with Building
Regulation Part S.

e Condition sought to secure SAP calculations.
e No details submitted in respect of overheating risk assessments.

¢ Request for commitment to provide bus travel vouchers.

DCC Highways

e Request to secure contribution for sustainable travel vouchers.
e Recommended Construction Management Plan conditions.

e Recommended condition for the visibility splay to be provided and maintained.
6. REPRESENTATIONS

10 letters of objection have been received raising the following points as summarised (the
full extent of representation is available on the public application file):

e The proposal would be overdevelopment of the site and would be overbearing with
the attractive formerly open grounds occupied by buildings.

e Privacy of Shrimp Lodge would be further compromised.

e The age restriction condition (over 55’s accommodation) should be re-imposed.

36



The proposal would result in unacceptable increase in traffic with detriment to other
road users including pedestrians specifically those walking on the road to reach the
coastal footpath.

Concerns over impacts of building works on the cliff and Network Rail infrastructure
include those as per previous application reference 20/00805/FUL.

Concerns regarding the applicant structural report not being appropriate and the
LPA not possessing the technical knowledge to assess them.

The proposal is not meeting the needs of the local population.
Lack of details submitted in respect of cliff stability.

Concerns raised regarding the privacy of existing units 1-4 at Shell Cove specifically
in relation to the east-west orientation of some of the proposed units.

Concerns over the scale of the units proposed.

The layout in consultation with existing residents at the site should be revised to
minimise impact, specifically those in Phase 1 of the development.

Proposed dwellings are too close to those at Phase 1 of the development.
Concerns over insufficient parking on site.

There is lack of detail regarding community consultation and reactive mitigation.
There is no Statement of Community Involvement.

Suggestions that the scheme be reduced by 50% in number of units, limiting to two
storeys, buildings to be repositioned to reduce landscape impact and impact on
neighbor, no windows on northern elevations, extensive soft landscaping to provide
screening and for properties to be provided for affordable housing only.

The design is unsympathetic and constitutes overdevelopment.
The principle of development is questioned.
Concerns that development would be sold as second homes.

Concerns over loss of privacy and residential amenity to Bradenton House,
Woodpeckers, Shrimp Lodge and Papillon with the existing development already
having detrimental impact.

Concerns over the views and visual amenity experienced by occupiers of the
properties within and surrounding the site.

The site is located with the AGLV, Undeveloped Coast and is within 200m of the
Dawlish Cliffs SSSI thus the development would have detrimental impact on those
designations.

The proposal would not conform with the Teignbridge District Landscape Character
Assessment seeking to protect this character area.

37



Concerns over construction activity taking place within the exclusion zone.

Lack of information relating to mitigations measures for construction noise, dust and
odour.

Concerns over right to light and privacy at Woodpeckers.

Concerns over drainage specifically in relation to surface water collecting in the
Woodpeckers forecourt.

Proposal would completely encircle Woodpeckers.

6 letters of comment have been received raising the following points as summarised (the
full extent of representation is available on the public application file):

Concerns raised over removal of trees that has taken place already.
Concerns regarding detrimental impact to ‘joys of country/seaside’ living.

Concerns over traffic increase, loss of visitor parking, and unclear parking
arrangements.

Concern over privacy.
This proposal would be preferred over the 17 consented flats.

Conditions to alleviate privacy concerns suggested — ie. Frosted glass on relevant
windows and reinstatement of trees for screening.

Proposals create a scattered appearance over the site.
Support for application as concerns over guest parking has been overcome.

Concerns over quality of life for existing residents including residential amenity and
access to sea views.

As summarised above some contributions have been submitted as letters of comment
however do in fact raise additional concerns in addition to those listed in the letter of
objection section

11 letters of support have been received raising the following points as summarised (the
full extent of representation is available on the public application file):

Proposals are sympathetic to the current development and enhance the residential
environment.

Proposal is aesthetically appealing and offers high quality accommodation.
Proposal responds to the topography of the site.
Proposal would enhance the estate and allow for completion of the final phase.

Preference is for this proposal over the consented 17 apartments which will be
much lower and will help with overall visual impact.

38



It should be noted that one of the letters of support is from the Shell Cove Management
Company which raises both concerns and points of support for the scheme. The points of
concern raised have be sumamrsied in the letters of objections section.

7. TOWN / PARISH COUNCIL’S COMMENTS
Dawlish Town Council:
22nd February 2024

Refusal recommended for the reasons as set out in Section 1 of this report. Requested to
be determined by Planning Committee should Officers recommend approval.

16th November 2023
Refusal recommended on the following basis:

e Numbers 9, 10, 11, 12 & 13 are proposed in an area of great landscape value and
are too close to the cliff for the railway

e The Grandfather rights to the footpath for network Rail could be compromised
e There are concerns over the cliff’s stability

e There are climate change concerns with the site

e |tis over development of the site

¢ Network Rail's objection must be taken into consideration

e There is no biodiversity gain or a method of achieving this submitted

Attention is drawn to complaints from neighbors. Requested to be determined by Planning
Committee should Officers recommend approval. Recommended that a site visit be carried
out.

8. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY

The proposed gross internal area is 3559.23m2 . The existing gross internal area in lawful
use for a continuous period of at least six months within the three years immediately
preceding this grant of planning permission is 0. The CIL liability for this development is
£494,941.46. This is based on 3559.23 net m2 at £85 per m2 and includes an adjustment
for inflation in line with the BCIS since the introduction of CIL.

9. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Due to its scale, nature and location this development will not have significant effects on
the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA Development.

10. BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN (BNG)

Biodiversity net gain is a legal requirement for planning permissions. Planning
applications are required to either provide detailed information proving there will be a
biodiversity increase of 10% or explain why they are exempt from doing so. Unless
exempt, planning permission is subject to the general Biodiversity Gain Condition (as set

39



out in Paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended).

This development is exempt from the general Biodiversity Gain Condition for the following
reason:

e Application was submitted prior to introduction of mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain.
11.  HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights Act, and
in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. This Act gives
further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In
arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable
development rights and expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the
wider community interests, as expressed through third party interests/the Development
Plan and Central Government Guidance.

Head of Development Management

40



Agenda ltem 6b

. ]
Teignbridge

Planning Committee Report

Chairman: CliIr Colin Parker

Humber

| ——— Y

Bishopsteignton

Date 27 May 2025

Case Taya Cotterill

Officer

Location |Bakers Yard Forder Lane Bishopsteignton
Devon TQ14 9RZ

Proposal |Outline planning application for a mixed use
development to include provision for three
commercial units, nine dwellings and six live-
work units (approval sought for access and
layout)

Applicant | Mr T Horsey

Ward Bishopsteignton

Member(s) | Clir Andrew MacGregor

Reference | 23/00911/MAJ

Online Details and Documents

RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION GRANTED

[Crown Copyright and database rights 202?3 Ordnance Survey 1000242@

41

QN via:,
W Roay

ent



sally.barham_1
Typewritten text
PERMISSION GRANTED


1.

2.

REASON FOR REPORT

The Ward Member has requested that this application be referred to Planning
Committee for determination. The reasons for the request are as follows:

Highway Safety;

Conservation / Ecology damage;

Flooding Risk / Water Flow onto A381 and Forder Lane; and
Loss of Amenity.

RECOMMENDATION

PERMISSION BE GRANTED subject to

(b)

a) The Applicant/Landowner first entering into a Section 106 Agreement to secure:

e Habitat Regulations Assessment financial contribution of £16,545 to offset
recreational pressure on the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar site and Dawlish
Warren SAC,;

¢ Financial Contributions towards off-site open space infrastructure relating to
Formal Sports Provision (£14,745) and secondary education home to school
transport (£13,440).

e The management of the landscaped amenity area to the north.

e Following any grant of planning permission and prior to commencement of
development, any uplift in site value shall be directed towards off-site
affordable housing contribution.

The completion of the s106 Agreement within 6 months of a resolution to grant
planning permission, subject to any extension to this date being agreed with the
Executive Member for Planning. In the event that the s106 Agreement is not
completed within this period (or an agreed extension), delegation to the Head of
Development Management to refuse the planning application due to the lack of
obligations as set out in (a) above.

And the following conditions:

1.

Approval of the Reserved Matters of Scale, Appearance and Landscaping of each
Phase of development shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing
before any development on that Phase is commenced.

REASON: To enable full and proper consideration of the proposed development.

Application for approval of all Reserved Matters shall be made to the Local Planning
Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

REASON: In accordance with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.

The development of a Phase shall be begun before the expiry of two years from the
date of final approval of the Reserved Matters for that particular Phase.

REASON: In accordance with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Comwésory Purchase Act 2004.



4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
application form and the following approved plans:

Date Received Drawing/Reference Description

Number
22 April 2025 2128.05 REV K Site Plan as Proposed
16 Jan 2024 2128.07 REV B Enlarged Site Plan as Proposed
23 May 2023 6406.400 REVA Drainage Strategy
23 May 2023 6406.001 REVA Proposed Access Arrangements
23 May 2023 2128.06 REVB Sections & Elevations as Proposed
23 May 2023 PAO2 Site Location Plan

REASON: In order to ensure compliance with the approved drawings

5. Should the development be carried out in multiple phases, the first Reserved Matters
submission shall be accompanied by a phasing plan to confirm the intended
approach. Works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Each Reserved Matters
application shall demonstrate that the total residential floorspace (Use Class C3) is
less than the total commercial floorspace (Use Class E(Q)), and including the
commercial areas forming part of the live/work units, to be delivered on the wider
site.

REASON: In order to define the permission and to reflect the development that has
been assessed to be acceptable in relation to Local and Neighbourhood Plan Policy.

Information required as part of Reserved Matters applications:

6. As part of any Reserved Matters application relating to a specific phase of the
development, a Lighting Design Strategy for that phase shall be submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The Strategy shall be developed by a
lighting engineer and ecological consultant and shall include:

a) A map showing "dark areas" that will be maintained on site, which shall extend
at least 5m from the face of all existing and new hedges and at least 10m around
retained and compensatory bat roosts;

b) An evidence-based assessment of light levels of the proposed development,
including light spill from buildings, vehicle headlamps and street lighting,
comprising a written report and accompanying drawings of the site, with the levels
of predicted illuminance and light spill in and adjacent to the dark areas shown by
appropriate isolines/lux levels;

¢) That all external lighting shall produce only UV-free, narrow spectrum, low-
intensity light output, with a warm colour-temperature (2,700K or less) and a
wavelength of 550nm or more;

d) Details of how a light level no higher than 0.5 lux will be achieved within the
dark areas. This to include details of fenestration, location type and number of
lighting units, hard and soft landscaping and other measures;

e) That public realm lighting is set on a timer to be off between 00:30 and 05:30;
and is bollard mounted and directed/cowled downwards and away from dark
areas;

f) That private external lighting shall consist only of PIR, motion activated security
lighting on short timers (1 minute mﬁfgnum), in association with front doors,



directed/cowled downwards and away from dark areas; and
g) That parking areas and turning heads are located, orientated and screened to
avoid headlights shining onto dark areas.

The Lighting Design Strategy shall be implemented and maintained as approved. No
lighting other than that detailed in the Strategy shall be installed during the lifetime of
the development.

REASON: For the benefit of bats and other light-averse wildlife

. As part of the first Reserved Matters application, a Landscape Ecology Management
Plan (LEMP) for the entire site shall be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority. The plan shall provide details of:

a) location of non-native hedging to be removed,

b) native species mix to replace non-native hedging, together with details of
planting, establishment and management over first 5 years;

c) ongoing management of boundary hedges and area north of the development
for the benefit of wildlife;

d) landscaping scheme for developed area of site for amenity, landscape and
wildlife, including species mixes, sizes, planting, establishment, management for
the first five years and ongoing management;

e) details of who will be responsible for ongoing management of public areas and
boundary trees and hedgerows, and how this will be funded.

Once approved, the development shall not be carried out otherwise than in strict
accordance with the approved LEMP details. All planting/creation to be undertaken
prior to first occupation of the development.

REASON: For the benefit of amenity, landscape and biodiversity.

. As part of any Reserved Matters application relating to a specific phase of the
development, full details of carbon reduction measures, including a Carbon
Reduction Statement and Carbon Offsetting Calculator, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted details shall
demonstrate how the development will minimise its carbon footprint and achieve a
reduction in CO2 emissions of at least 48% over the Building Regulations 2006 Part
L2A, which translates to a 24% reduction in emissions over Part L2A 2013; a fabric
first approach should be taken. The submitted details shall demonstrate how energy,
water, soil and materials will be minimised and shall make provisions for, where
possible, the re-use of materials on site and the use of locally sourced materials.
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

REASON: To minimise CO?2 emissions in accordance with policies S7 and EN3 of the
Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033 and in the interests of sustainable development.
The condition should be pre-commencement to ensure that the necessary measures
can be incorporated into the development and to avoid redesign / unnecessary
delays during construction when construction design details become fixed.

. As part of any Reserved Matters application, finished floor levels of all buildings shall
accord with the details indicated on the submitted drawing no. 2128.05 Rev K. In

addition, no ridge height of any dwelling shall exceed a ridge height of 39.0 AOD and
the proposed commercial units 8 and 9 shall nzt exceed single storey in height, all as



indicated on drawing numbered 2128.05 Rev K.

REASON: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area and in the
interests of residential amenity.

10. As part of any reserved matters application, full details of all footway and vehicular
and pedestrian access works within the vicinity of the existing Ash tree at the site
entrance shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Such details shall include, construction techniques, methods of hardening,
surfacing and draining of the footway and accesses to ensure their will be no
damage to the long-term health of the tree.

REASON: To safeguard the retention and long-term health of the Ash tree in the
interests of visual amenity and biodiversity.

Prior to Commencement Conditions:

11.Prior to the commencement of development, a Green Infrastructure Plan shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, to include
details of the laying out, equipping and implementation of the area(s) of green
infrastructure, including children’s play space, together with provision for its future
maintenance, which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of associated site clearance and
preparation works.

REASON: This pre-commencement condition is imposed as it is fundamental to
ensure that open space is provided in accordance with Policy WE11.

12. Prior to commencement of development, the following Surface Water Drainage
information for the entire site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority (in consultation with the Lead Local Flood Authority):

a) Soakaway test results in accordance with BRE 365, groundwater monitoring
results in line with the DCC groundwater monitoring policy and evidence that
there is a low risk of groundwater re-emergence downslope of the site from any
proposed soakaways or infiltration basins.

b) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Drainage Strategy
(Drawing N0.6406.400, Rev.C, dated June 2024) and the results of the
information submitted in relation to a) above.

c) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt run-off from
the site during construction of the development hereby permitted.

d) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water
drainage system.

e) Evidence there is agreement in principle from the landowner, Devon County
Highway Authority and South West Water.

No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been approved
and implemented in accordance with the details under a) - €) above.

REASON: The above condition is required to ensure the proposed surface water
drainage system will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk
either on the site, adjacent land or downstream in line with SuDS for Devon
Guidance (2017) and national policies, including NPPF and PPG. It is essential that
the proposed surface water drainage s;é/lséem is shown to be feasible before works



begin to avoid redesign / unnecessary delays during construction when site layout is
fixed.

13. Prior to commencement of development, details of the on-site pumping station shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such
details shall include siting, appearance, design, dimensions (including heights),
external finishing materials and means of enclosure of the pumping station and
methods to be used to prevent removal or damage to any existing boundary hedges
or trees during the construction of the pumping station and thereafter following its
completion.

No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the approved works in relation to
this pumping station have been completed. The system and works shall thereafter be
so retained and maintained.

REASON: The above condition is required to ensure the proposed foul water
drainage system will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in pollution
risk either on the site, adjacent land or downstream in line with national policies,
including NPPF and PPG. It is essential that the proposed foul water drainage
system is shown to be feasible before works begin to avoid redesign / unnecessary
delays during construction when site layout is fixed.

14. Prior to the commencement of any development hereby approved, the provision of
the crossing point over Forder Lane and the associated provision of safe cycling and
walking routes connecting the application site to Bishopsteignton village centre, all
as indicated on the detailed drawing numbered 6406.001 Rev A, shall be completed
and made available for use by the public.

REASON: A pre-commencement condition is imposed as it is fundamental to ensure
a safe pedestrian connection to the village is made available for use, in the interest of
highway safety, in accordance with the provisions of Policy V3 of the draft
Teignbridge Local Plan 2020-2040

15. Prior to the commencement of any Phase of the development, including demolition
and vegetation removal, a detailed Bat Mitigation Plan shall be submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan shall include:

a) retention of lesser horseshoe bat roost building, with fencing or other means to
safely exclude residents;

b) submission of full details of the new bat roost building suitable for greater and
lesser horseshoe bats, long-eared bats and crevice dwelling bats. The building to
be made of block and slate and positioned close to, but not on footprint of, the
existing Lesser horseshoe bat roost building, away from badger setts and with the
accesses facing away from light spill;

c) replacement roost building to be completed and available for use by bats prior
to commencement of demolition or other works to the existing buildings;

d) submission of full details for additional provision for crevice roosting bats
elsewhere on site/within the new buildings;

e) bat roost survey of any trees to be removed, prior to removal;

f) works to existing buildings to be undertaken between 1 May and 1 October;

g) ‘soft stripping’ of structures under supervision of bat ecologist.

Once approved, the works shall take place in strict accordance with the Bat
Mitigation Plan and the bat roosts shall be retained thereafter.



REASON: A pre-commencement condition is imposed because it is fundamental for
the benefit of legally protected bat species. A pre-commencement condition is
needed, as commencement may result in destruction of bat roosts.

16. Prior to commencement of any Phase of the development, including site clearance,
demolition and vegetation removal, a detailed Construction Ecological Management
Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
The CEMP shall include:

a) detailed reptile translocation plan;

b) a dormouse protocol for clearance of woody/scrubby vegetation, including
timing and supervision by an ecologist;

c) proposed locations for and designs of 1+ barn owl boxes to be incorporated
into the new building(s) (but NOT in the compensatory bat roost building);

d) other bird boxes to be incorporated into the fabric of the new buildings;

e) measures to prevent animals becoming trapped in excavations/pipes;

f) measures to avoid harm to nesting birds when clearing vegetation/
demolishing buildings.

Once approved, the development shall not be carried out other than in strict
accordance with the approved mitigation and enhancement measures set out in the
CEMP and such measures shall thereafter be retained and maintained in perpetuity.

REASON: A pre-commencement condition is fundamental for the benefit of legally
protected species and to provide biodiversity enhancements. A pre-commencement
condition is required, as the CEMP is to detail how protected reptiles will be removed
from the site prior to commencement of site clearance.

17. Prior to the commencement of any Phase of the development, a "Competent
Person" shall undertake soil sampling as recommended in section 6.2 of the
contaminated land assessment (Ref:BIS882/DS/001) which forms part of the
previous application submission under reference12/02394/MAJ), and which is
referred to in this current outline application submission, so as to identify any
contamination on the site and provide a written report of the findings, including risk
assessment. The results of such soil sampling shall be submitted to, and agreed in
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Any remediation works shall be carried out
in accordance with details previously agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority and following completion of these works a verification report by a
Competent Person shall be submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local
Planning Authority.

REASON: A pre-commencement condition is fundamental to ensure sufficient
contamination remedial measures are in place from the outset.

18. Prior to the commencement of any Phase of the development, a Waste Audit
Statement shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in
consultation with Devon County Council. This statement shall include all information
outlined in the waste audit template provided in Devon County Council’s Waste
Management and Infrastructure Supplementary Planning Document. The following
information relating to that Phase shall be addressed in the statement:

a) The amount of construction, demolition and excavation waste in tonnes, set out
by the type of material.
47



19.

b) Identify targets for the re-use, recycling and recovery for each waste type from
during construction, demolition and excavation, along with the methodology for
auditing this waste including a monitoring scheme and corrective measures if
failure to meet targets occurs.

¢) The predicted annual amount of waste (in tonnes) that will be generated once
the development is occupied.

d) Identify the main types of waste generated when development is occupied.

e) The details of the waste disposal methods likely to be used; including the name
and location of the waste disposal site.

f) Identify measures taken to avoid all waste occurring.

g) Demonstrate the provisions made for the management of any waste generated
to be in accordance with the waste hierarchy.

h) The development of that Phase shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved statement.

REASON: A pre-commencement condition is fundamental to minimise the amount of
waste produced and promote sustainable methods of waste management in
accordance with Policy W4 of the Devon Waste Plan and the Waste Management
and Infrastructure Supplementary Planning Document. This information is required
pre-commencement to ensure that all waste material is dealt with in a sustainable
way from the outset of the development including any groundworks, demolition,
construction and operation.

Prior to the commencement of any Phase of the development, a Construction
Management Plan (CMP) shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The CMP shall include:

a) the timetable of the works;

b) daily hours of construction;

c) any road closure;

d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the
site, with such vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00a.m. and
6:00p.m. Mondays to Fridays inclusive; 9:00a.m. to 1:00p.m. Saturdays, and
no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and Bank/Public
Holidays unless agreed by the Local Planning Authority in advance;

e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the
development and the frequency of their visits;

f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished
products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the
demolition and construction phases;

g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or
unload building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates,
packing materials and waste with confirmation that no construction traffic or
delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for loading or unloading
purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local
Planning Authority;

h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site;

i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works;

]) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order
to limit construction staff vehicles parking off-site;

k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations;

[) the proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes;

m) details of the amount and location of construction worker parking;

n) photographic evidence of the conditioréllgf adjacent public highway prior to



commencement of any work;

0) details of any temporary vehicular access required in connection with the
development; an

p) the identification, remediation and removal protocols for asbestos in keeping
with the current relevant approved guidance codes of practice and regulations
concerning the remediation of sites known to be contaminated with Asbestos,
and to include a site protocol for the investigation of the site, in particular the
asbestos contamination; a sampling program/rationale for the site, including
sampling methodology; human health risk assessments to demonstrate safety
of site workers; a remediation and validation scheme that will deliver the site
such that it is suitably fit for purposes/end use that is intended; and the safe
handling and licenced disposal of all asbestos waste from site..

The development shall thereafter be carried out accordance with the details set out
in the approved CMP.

REASON: A pre-commencement condition is fundamental in the interests of
highway safety to minimise disruption to the vehicular traffic/pedestrian route and to
protect the residential amenity of local residents. This condition is required prior to
commencement of development as the construction traffic has the potential to
adversely impact local amenity without the agreement of further details. These
adverse impacts on local amenity may occur from the movement of the first
construction traffic at the commencement of the development, without reasonable
controls in place.

20. All existing native trees, hedges and hedgerow shall be retained, except where
removal is necessary to create access. No materials shall be brought onto the site,
or any development commenced, until protective fencing has been erected around
all trees and hedges. The fencing shall be in accordance with Figure 2 of BS 5837
2012. The fences shall be maintained until all development has been completed.
The level of the land within the fenced areas shall not be altered without the prior
written consent of the Local Planning Authority. No materials shall be stored within
the fenced area, nor shall trenches for service runs or any other excavations take
place within the fenced area except by written permission of the Local Planning
Authority. Cotoneaster and other invasive, non- native plant species shall be
removed. Where these occur in boundary hedges, they shall be replaced with a mix
of locally appropriate native tree and shrub species.

REASON: To protect vegetation in the interests of biodiversity and visual amenity
and to provide biodiversity enhancements.

Prior to Occupation Conditions

21. The site access, visibility splays and off-site highway works as shown on drawing
numbered 6406.001 Rev A shall have been completed and made available for use
prior to occupation of any building hereby approved.

REASON: To minimise the impact of the development on the highway network and to
encourage sustainable modes of transport.

22. No dwelling and residential apartment forming part of the live/works unit shall be
occupied until such time as all the commercial units have been constructed and
fitted out ready for occupation/commercial use.

49



REASON: To ensure that all commercial units have been constructed and made
available for use prior to the occupation of any approved residential unit in
accordance with the requirements of the Bishopsteignton Neighbourhood
Development Plan (2013-2033)

23. Prior to the occupation of any of the live/work units and the commercial units hereby
approved, full details of refuse storage and collection shall be submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved refuse storage and
collection areas shall be completed and made available prior to the occupation of

any of the live/work units and commercial units and thereafter so retained and
maintained.

REASON: To ensure adequate storage facilities are made available and avoid the
inappropriate discarding of waste.

24. Prior to first occupation of each Phase, vehicle and cycle parking facilities for that
Phase shall be provided in accordance with details that have first been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Parking spaces shall
thereafter be retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details.

REASON: In the interests of travel management.

25. A detailed operational Travel Plan for each individual commercial unit shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to first
occupation of each individual unit. The Travel Plan for each unit shall include details
of how staff and visitors/business users of the site would be encouraged to reduce
trips using the private vehicle and details of how vehicles are to avoid
Bishopsteignton Centre. Each unit shall thereafter be operated in accordance with
its approved travel plan unless amended in writing.

REASON: In the interests of travel management and to manage development at the
site.

General Compliance

26. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present
at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted, and
obtained written approval from the Local Planning Authority for an investigation and
risk assessment and, where necessary, a remediation strategy and verification plan
detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with.

Development shall not thereafter proceed unless in strict accordance with the
measures identified in the approved remediation strategy and verification plan. Prior
to occupation to occupation of any part of the permitted development, a verification
report demonstrating completion of the works set out in the approved remediation
strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and
approved, in writing, by the local planning authority

REASON: To ensure that any unexpected contamination that is uncovered during
remediation or other site works is dealt with appropriately.

27. All commercial floorspace, including both the independent commercial units and the
ground floor element of the live/work units, shall not be used for any use other than



those falling under Use Class E(g). Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as
amended) (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without
modification), no unit once complete shall change its use without the express
permission of the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: To avoid adverse impact on residential amenity and to ensure the
unacceptable loss of employment space.

28. The residential floorspace within the mixed use live-work units shall not be occupied

other than by persons employed in the business occupying the business floorspace
for that unit, or their dependents.

REASON: To retain the live/work element of the scheme as required in
Bishopsteignton Neighbourhood Development Plan Policy BSE1.

29. As a result of the presence of legally protected species on site, the works shall
proceed in strict accordance with the precautions, measures and enhancements
described in the Ecological Impact Assessment (by Orbis Ecology, dated December
2019, see especially section 5). For the sake of clarity, the necessary mitigation and
enhancements measures include the following:

a) replace cotoneaster hedges with mixed native-species hedges and manage for
wildlife;

b) management of the northern section of the site for wildlife;

c) use wildflower rich turf mixes in communal/amenity areas;

d) no development in the vicinity of badger setts;

e) measures to prevent badgers/other animals being trapped in
excavations/pipes;

f) timing of works or checks by ecologist to avoid harm to nesting birds;

g) incorporation of a barn owl box in a suitable location in a new building (NOT
the compensatory bat roost);

h) incorporation of other bird boxes in new buildings;
i) erection of reptile fence between northern vegetated area and the development,
followed by translocation of reptiles and amphibians to the north of the fence.

REASON: In the interest of protection of legally protected species and ensuring
biodiversity enhancements.

30. Works shall only take place between the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 Mondays to Fridays
inclusive; 09:00 to 13:00 Saturdays, and no working on the site to take place on
Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays. No lighting shall be left on over-night during the
construction phase. Works compounds to be located away from existing roosts, new
roost building, hedges and other retained vegetation. Works compounds lighting to

be PIR activated security lighting only on short timers (1 minute maximum), directed
away from bat roosts, hedges and trees.

REASON: To permit continued use of the site by light-averse bats.
31. The existing Ash tree located to the east of the vehicular entrance into the site shall
be retained and maintained, and shall not be lopped, felled or otherwise interfered

with, without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: To safeguard visual amenity a]rjd biodiversity interests.



32.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking
and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no development of the types
described in Classes A, AA, B and C of Part 1 of Schedule 2 shall be undertaken on
the site (other than those expressly authorised by this permission)

REASON: To ensure that the character and appearance of the locality are protected and

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

to avoid overdevelopment in the interests of local amenity.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

The application site comprises 1.25 hectares of land to the north of Forder Lane,west
of Bishopsteignton. The site was formerly known as Orchard Nursery, and is
currently occupied by several derelict buildings, associated with the former use, in
various states of disrepair. It currently has a “nil” use, following an extended period
of inactivity. To the east lies the dwelling known as “Orchard Cottage” and to the
west is the dwelling known as “Green Oak”. Forder Lane runs alongside the southern
boundary of the site. Vehicular access to the site is obtained at the south western
corner of the site at Forder Cross.

The site currently lies outside of the settlement limits of Bishopsteignton and is
designated in the Bishopsteignton Neighbourhood Development Plan (2013-2033)
(BNDP) for employment-led uses under Policy BSE1. The site has been allocated in
the emerging Teignbridge Local Plan 2020-2040 (Policy V3) for 15 homes. If the
allocation is adopted as written, the site would fall inside the settlement limits of
Bishopsteignton and would be removed from the Undeveloped Coast.

The site is largely bordered by trees and hedgerows of varying quality. There are no
Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs) relating to the site.

The site is located in Flood Zone 1; however, parts of the site are at risk of surface
water flooding. There are no public rights of way (PRoWSs) or permissive footpaths
within the site. There is a PRoW to the east of the site — running between an
unnamed road to the  north and Forder Lane to the south. Existing vehicular
access to the site is from Forder Cross. The site is within 20km of the Dawlish
Warren Special Area of Conservation (SAC) / National Nature Reserve (NNR) and
the Exe Estuary Special Area of Conservation (SPA) and Ramsar site. The site is
located within the Landscape Connectivity Zone for the South Hams SAC,
designated for Greater Horseshoe Bats. The site lies on a slope with a southerly
aspect overlooking the Teign Estuary and is currently located in the Undeveloped
Coast. There are no heritage assets within the setting of the site.

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

This application seeks outline planning permission for 3 units for commercial use with
a total indicative floor area of 1,580 square metres, 6 live-work units and 9 open
market residential dwellings, with associated landscaping and parking.

Matters to be considered as part of this outline application include Access and
Layout. Scale, Appearance and Landscaping are to be considered at Reserved
Matters stage.

For clarification, in relation to reserved matters:

52



4.4,

4.5.

4.6.

4.7.

4.8.

“Access” means the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and
pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and
how these fit into the surrounding access network.

“‘Appearance” means the aspects of a building or place within the development which
determine the visual impression the building or place makes, including the external built
form of the development, its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, colour and
texture.

“Landscaping” means the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of
enhancing or protecting the amenities of the site and the area in which it is situated and
includes: (a) screening by fences, walls or other means; (b) the planting of trees, hedges,
shrubs or grass; (c) the formation of banks, terraces or other earthworks; (d) the laying
out or provision of gardens, courts, squares, water features, sculpture or public art; and
(e) the provision of other amenity features.

“Layout” means the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the
development are provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to
buildings and spaces outside the development.

“Scale” means the height, width and length of each building proposed within the
development in relation to its surroundings.

Vehicular access to the site is proposed from Forder Cross at the southwestern
corner of the site, where the existing access point will be widened to accommodate
appropriate visibility splays. The internal roads are proposed to be adopted.

The proposed commercial and live-work units would be located on the lowest part of
the site, clustered around the designated parking area. The proposed dwellings
would be sited further up the site and would all be accessed off internal estate roads.
The highest part of the site would be set aside as a landscaping buffer due to its
visual prominence and would accommodate the site’s green infrastructure
requirements, the details of which would be agreed at Reserved Matters stage.

Whilst the matters of scale and appearance are reserved, the applicant has indicated
that a likely mix would be 7 x 2 storey, 4-bedroom houses, with the remaining 2 x
dwellings to be 2 storey, 2 bedroom dwellings. This would need to be managed and
considered carefully at the Reserved Matters stage to ensure ongoing policy
compliance.

Whilst a maximum total floorspace has not been provided for the purposes of this
outline application, it has been indicated that the live-work units would comprise
approximately 100sgm of commercial floor space on the ground floor and residential
accommodation on the first floor. The 3 commercial units are proposed to be single
storey with approximately 100sgm of floor space, restricted to uses falling under
Class E(g). Site sections demonstrating the proposed ridge lines of the units in the
context of the topography of the site have been submitted as part of this application,
to fully assess Landscape Visual Impact.

A SuDS (Sustainable Drainage System) scheme in the form of underground surface
water attenuation tanks is proposed to manage surface water. Geology beneath the
site is comprised of Whiteway Mudstone Formation (Slate) and therefore infiltration

methods are considered to be unfeasible at this stage. An unnamed watercourse is

located within close proximity to thsgite. Surface water runoff is proposed to be



4.9.

4.10.

TO NEWTON ABBOT
A3g1

4.11.

discharged into this watercourse via a new sewer to the east within Forder Lane. The
primary form of attenuation would be provided within geocellular crates located within
the southern access road, in addition to porous paving areas located within
driveways where feasible.

It is proposed to discharge all foul water flows from the proposed development into
the existing South West Water foul water sewer network. The discharge point into
the public foul network is the existing 150mm diameter foul sewer located within
Forder Lane located approximately 200m east of the site. Due to the levels of the site
and the invert level of the proposed connection point, a pumped solution would be
required.

Off-site highway works are proposed to improve pedestrian accessibility to public
transport options on the A381, with bus travel through to Teignmouth to the east and
Kingsteignton and Newton Abbot to the west, and to provide a safe pedestrian
crossing point to the opposite side of Forder Lane. These works include:

Relocation of westbound bus stop to a safer location, with connecting footpath along
the start of Forder Lane;

Installation of dropped kerbs and tactile paving to create crossing point from north side
of A381 to the westbound bus stop;

Installation of dropped kerb and tactile paving to create crossing point from south of
the application site to south side of Forder Lane, connecting to new footpath;
Widening of existing footway between A381 and Forder Lane to 2 metres in width;
and

The existing east bound bus stop to be retained and connected to the widened
footpath.

THE SITE
BAKER'S YARD

(REFER TO ARCHITETS'S LAVOLT)
E8m ACHEVABLE VISBLITY SPLAY IN

EXCESS OF 43m (MINIMUM FOR 30mph)
[

—
-
? e
, /’//\*\?—\st)m
\Va
/0’@6*
|
|
///I/
T 2m FOUTWAY
e g g TT————_ OROPPED KERBING AND
PROPOSED FOOTWAY CHANGES TO TEE AT A TACTILE. PAMNG
INTO EXISTING BACK OF FOOTMAY /
- / |
= FOOTWAY ROUTED |
P et O AVOID TREE }
e
: ~ ]
(00D INTERVISEILITY WTH " | NOCATVE EARTHRORKS
FORDERS LANE/ASE? JUNCTION | Jl n BATIER (1n2) o
o
{ 4 ¢ -
! ar & ~
—_— R DROPPED KEFEING AND
LOCATION OF EXISTNG DAST 30UND S asece . TAOTLE PN
8US STOP (TO BE RETANED) ~
p
] T
(0]
ROPOSED WIDENNG OF EXISTNG / i 7 TE‘GNMOUTP
“DOTWAT BETWEEN AJB) AND FORDER A \*
LNE TO 2m N WDTH (PART A A381
WDONNG/PART RESURFACING) ///

PROPOSED RELOCATION CF WESTBOUND
BUS STOP TO SAFER LOCATION AND
NEW FOOTWAY TO/FRON FORDER LANE

Devon County Highways Authority has confirmed that all the off-site works being
proposed fall ‘within highway land’, i.e. under the ownership of devon County
Council, as evidenced by the land coloured brown on the plan below. The red line on
the submitted site location plan defines @a boundary of the applicant’s ownership,



which follows the profile shown on the highway plan and, as such, the proposed
highways works are on either highway land or land in the applicant’s ownership.

Loudge L

5. UPDATE SINCE PREVIOUS PLANNING APPLICATION 19/00800/MAJ

5.1. A similar planning application was previously submitted on the site (ref:
19/00800/MAJ) and refused by the Planning Committee in April 2022 for the
following reason:

The proposed development by virtue of its relationship with day-to-day facilities in
Bishopsteignton is likely to generate an increase in pedestrian traffic on a highway
lacking adequate footways with consequent additional danger to all users of the road
and is therefore contrary to paragraphs 110-113 of the NPPF and Policies S1 and S9
of the Teignbridge Local Plan.

5.2. Since April 2022, the emerging Teignbridge Local Plan 2020-2040 has progressed
and now proposes the application site as a housing allocation for 15 houses (Policy
V3). This emerging policy requires various contributions, including pedestrian
infrastructure improvements. In addition, the land on the opposite side of Forder
Lane has been proposed as a housing allocation in the emerging Local Plan for 55
houses (Policy V2).

5.3. The Local Plan Examination has taken place and site-specific policies were
examined during November 2024. The current position is that the Council will be
publishing Main Modifications to the emerging Local Plan for a 6-weeks consultation
period from early June, following which responses will be sent to the Examination
Inspectors and an Inspectors Report will be received by the Council in September
with the Local Plan being adopted during the autumn 2025. In respect of Policies V2:
Forder Lane, and V3: Bakers Yard, both carry medium weight at this advanced stage
of the plan-making process, before receipt of the Inspector’'s Report and thus should
be afforded due consideration when determining the policy merits of this proposed
development scheme.

55



54. The full wording of Policy V3 as initially drafted has been set out below for reference.

V3: Bakers Yard, Bishopsteignton
Land is allocated at Bakers Yard for approximately 15 homes to include:

1. Atleast 0.5 hectares of green infrastructure providing:

a. To ascertain no adverse effecta on European Wildlife Site integrity mitigation measures for Exe
Estuary SPA and Dawlish Warren SAC, including at least 0.3ha SANGS, preferably provided as
part of the SANGS at V2: Forder Lane; and

b. An ecological mitigation plan to inform a project level HRA to ascertain no adverse effect on the
integrity of the South Hams SAC.

A safe cycle and walking route to Forder Lane and crossing point to the V2. Forder Lane allocation;
Contributions towards the planned Teign Estuary Trail (Bishopsteignton to Passage House Inn section);

Contributions towards infrastructure for secondary education provision and home to school transport;

el e B

Specific landscape and design measures to mitigate impacts on the Undeveloped Coast, informed
by a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment; and

6. Any required remedial measures undertaken following investigations of potential contamination.

5.5. However, changes to Policy V3 have been made as a result of the Examination
hearings and the Planning Inspector follow-up actions from each week of
examination. Education requirements have been updated in light of the County
Education Authority’s input at the hearings. The Green infrastructure requirements
have also changed as onsite SANGS are no longer proposed due to a change in the
SE Devon Euro Sites Joint Management Strategy, which looks for strategic SANGS
only. The updated version of Policy V3 is below and will form part of the Main
Modifications Plan to be published for consultation, following which it will carry
substantial weight.

V3: Bakers Yard, Bishopsteignton
Land is allocated at Bakers Yard for approximately 15 homes to include:

1. At least 8:50.2 hectares of green infrastructure; providing:
2. a:To ascertain no adverse effects on European Wildlife Site integrity mitigation measures for Exe
Estuary SPA and Dawlish Warren SAC, including financial contributions equivalent to 8ha of

SANGS per 1,000 population dwelling-atteast-0:3haSANGS; preferably-provided-aspartof-the
SANGSatV2Fordertane—and

3. b:An ecological mitigation plan to inform a project level HRA to ascertain no adverse effect on the
integrity of the South Hams SAC.

42. A safe cycle and walking route to Forder Lane and crossing point to the V2. Forder Lane allocation

53. Contributions towards the planned Teign Estuary Trail (Bishopsteignton to Passage House Inn
section);

64. Contributions towards infrastructurefor secondary educationprovisionmand home to schoaol

transport;

75. 5pecific landscape and design measures to mitigate impacts on the Undeveloped Coast, informed
by a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment; and

86. Any required remedial measures undertaken following investigations of potential contamination.

56



5.6. In addition, the land on the opposite side of Forder Lane has been proposed as a
housing allocation in the emerging Local Plan for 55 houses (Policy V2). This also
requires various contributions, including pedestrian infrastructure improvements. As
originally drafted Policy V2 is as per the extract below.

V2: Forder Lane, Bishopsteignton
A site is allocated at Forder Lane for approximately 55 homes to include:

1. Atleast 1.7 hectares of green infrastructure including:
a. To ascertain no adverse effects on European Wildlife Site integrity mitigation measures for Exe
Estuary SPA and Dawlish Warren SAC, including 1ha of SANGS;
b. Appropriately designed parkland and natural green space, including SANGS, in the western half
of the site, which helps to obscure views of the site access road; and
c. An ecological mitigation plan to inform a project level HRA to protect the integrity of the South
Hams SAC.

2. Movement network including:
a. Suitable road access from Forder Lane, designed in a way which minimises landscape impact;
b. Safe cycling and walking routes to include routes allowing safe access to Bakers Yard, a
connection into the village (with a strong preference for access via The Lawns) and to bus stops
on Newton Road: and
c. Contributions towards the planned Teign Estuary Trail (Bishopsteignton to Passage House Inn
section).

3. Contributions towards infrastructure for secondary education provision and home to school
transport;

4. Specific landscape and design measures to mitigate impacts on the Undeveloped Coast, informed
by a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment; and

5. Alayout informed by details of archaeological investigation, evaluation and mitigation.

Trigger points will be inserted into planning obligations to ensure key infrastructure is provided in a
timely manner to serve occupiers of new homes, reflecting policy GP7 (Infrastructure & Transport
MNetwaorks).

5.7. Again, changes to Policy V2 have been made as a result of the Examination
hearings and the Planning Inspector follow-up actions from each week of
examination. The updated version of Policy V2 is below.

57



V2: Forder Lane, Bishopsteignton
Asite is allocated at Forder Lane for approximately 55 homes to include:

1. Atleast 7 0.7 hectares of green infrastructure including appropriately designed parkland,

landscaping and natural green space in the western part of the site, which helps to obscure
views of the site access road and provide screening of the development:

|

a-To ascertain no adverse effects on European Wildlife Site integrity mitigation measures for Exe

Estuary SPA and Dawlish Warren SAC, including financial contributions equivalent to 184-square-
metres 8 ha uf SﬂNGS per 1,000 population dweﬂrrrg—mth:rchng—]:ha—of—&ﬁﬂ&ﬁ

3. &An ecological mitigation plan to inform a project level HRA to protect the integrity of the South
Harms SAC,

42. Movement network including:
a. Suitable road access from Forder Lane, designed in a way which minimises landscape impact;
b. Safe cycling and walking routes to include routes allowing safe access to Bakers Yard, a
connection into the village (with a strong preference for access via The Lawns) and to bus stops
on Newton Road; and
c._ Contributions towards the planned Teign Estuary Trail (Bishopsteignton to Passage House Inn section).

53. Contributions towards infrastructure-for secondary educationprovision-and home to school transport;

64, Specific landscape and design measures to mitigate impacts on the Undeveloped Coast, informed by
a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment with development limited to the eastern part of the site; and

75. A layout informed by details of archaeoclogical investigation, evaluation and mitigation.

Trigger points will be inserted into planning obligations to ensure key infrastructure is provided in a timely
manner to serve occupiers of new homes, reflecting policy GP7 (Infrastructure & Transport Networks).

5.8. Initially, the previous planning application proposed an ‘Active Travel Route’
connecting the top of the site to a public footpath to the north, via an unsurfaced
track. Due to concerns over the feasibility of residents using this route, the Active
Travel Route was removed from that submission and was not considered as part of
that application.

5.9. Whilst details of the application are outlined within the following sections of this
report, it should be noted that the only difference between the previously refused
proposal and this current application is the change in planning policy context and the
proposed implementation of a Grampian condition preventing any of the
development from being commenced until a pedestrian crossing point (proposed as
part of this application) and associated pedestrian footpath (as required by emerging
policy V2) has been delivered, ensuring safe pedestrian access to the centre of the
village. A Grampian condition prohibits the development authorised by the planning
permission from commencing until a specified action has taken place. The Grampian
condition has been worded as follows:

Prior to the commencement of any development hereby approved, the provision of the
crossing point over Forder Lane and the associated provision of safe cycling and walking
routes connecting the application site to Bishopsteignton village centre, all as indicated on
the detailed drawing no. 6406.001 Rev A, shall be completed and made available for use by

58



the public.

5.10. For the proposed development, the Grampian condition would delay the construction
of any of the buildings until the footpath associated with proposed policy allocation
V2 is constructed and made available for use. The trajectory for delivering the V2
allocation site as set out in the proposed submission Local Plan and as clarified by
the promoters of this allocation is set at 10 dwellings to come forward in 2027/28, 20
in 2028/29 and 25 in 2029/30. The wording of Policy V2 states that key infrastructure
will be provided in a timely manner to serve occupiers of the new homes. With this in
mind, it would be expected that the footpath would be delivered alongside the first
phase of 10 dwellings on V2 ensuring it is implemented prior to their occupation and
this would likely be secured through a Section 106 Agreement completed in
association with any V2 permission, allowing the delivery and timing of the footpath
to be within the Council’s control. The emerging Local Plan also includes Bakers
Yard within the trajectory as being delivered in 2030-31. As this is an outline
application, with reserved matters to follow, these developments could be delivered
in similar timeframes allowing a Grampian condition to be used effectively.

5.11. Although these Local Plan policies are currently in draft, in the event the emerging
Local Plan is adopted with these requirements removed or amended, there would be
no risk that the development could be delivered and occupied, without the pedestrian
infrastructure being in place.

6. ASSESSMENT AGAINST PLANNING POLICIES
Principle of Development

6.1 Sections 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 require the Council to determine any application in
accordance with the statutory development plan unless materialconsiderations indicate
otherwise.

6.2 The Bishopsteignton Neighbourhood Development Plan (BNDP) was adopted on 315t
October 2017 after an independent examination confirming the Plan met the required basic
conditions and a public referendum in which over 87% of those who voted chose to
adopt/make the Plan. The BNDP is therefore legally compliant and demonstrates the
ambitions of the local community for land use in their Parish.

6.3 National guidance states:

“A neighbourhood plan attains the same legal status as a local plan (and other documents
that form part of the statutory development plan) once it has been approved at a referendum.
At this point it comes into force as part of the statutory development plan. Applications for
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless
material considerations indicate otherwise (see section 38(6) of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

Should there be a conflict between a policy in a neighbourhood plan and a policy in a local
plan or spatial development strategy, section 38(5) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 requires that the conflict must be resolved in favour of the policy which is
contained in the last document to become part of the development plan.”

6.4 The BNDP is therefore part of the local Development Plan and is the most up-to- date

59


http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/38
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/38
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/38
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/38
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/38

development plan document for the parish of Bishopsteignton. Applications should, first and
foremost, be determined in accordance with the policies and allocations within the
Neighbourhood Plan. Where the Neighbourhood Plan is silent on a matter, Local Plan
policies should be utilised. The BNDP includes policies on the principle of the proposed
development at this location, access arrangements, scale and siting required to determine
this application. These relevant policies and the planning application’s conformity with them
are addressed below.

6.5 Policy BSE1 is the principal policy which allocates the land at Bakers Yard for
employment with supporting residential development if required. The allocation of the site for
development was supported for employment use by 85% of those surveyed and for linked
residential by 65%, as part of the Neighbourhood Plan preparation.

6.6 The policy is set out in full here for clarity:

BSE1

Support redevelopment of Bakers Yard to provide for employment use which is within Class
B1 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (or any subsequent relevant
legislation) subject to the following criteria and policies in this Plan and the Teignbridge Local
Plan:

The scheme complies with “site development principles” illustrated in the map in Appendix 9
of this Plan; and

A development scheme can include housing to provide a viability incentive to assist
redevelopment of the site; and

The housing component shall be subsidiary in floor space to the employment component and
not brought into use until the related employment element is constructed and ready for use;
and

Live-work units are encouraged. These units will be controlled to be permanently linked to
the employment use to which they relate by planning conditions based on those in appendix
9 of the Plan.

Housing which is unattached to an employment use may also be considered provided it can
be demonstrated that it will not prejudice the operation of the employment use and the
overall amount of housing is subsidiary in floor space to the employment use; and
Proposals should be accompanied by a full ecological assessment of the site to show that
any European Protected Species matters are satisfactorily addressed.

Proposals should demonstrate via a travel plan how modes of transport other than the car
can be encouraged to serve the site.

6.7 The proposal is considered against each of the policy’s criteria below (text in italics is
taken from the Neighbourhood Plan):

6.7.1 Support redevelopment of Bakers Yard to provide for employment use which is within
class B1 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (or any subsequent
relevant legislation) subject to the following criteria and policies in this plan and the
Teignbridge L ocal Plan.

6.7.2 A mix of both employment and residential uses are proposed on site. The inclusion of
the residential element is assessed in further detail below, however, the inclusion of
employment-led uses on site clearly echoes the aspirations of the BNDP and is therefore
supported. The proposed layout locates the employment uses at the southern end of the site,
closest to the site access and main highway. Whilst this reduces the visual impact of the
units, this location within the site also infers the intended employment-led use upon arrival
and this is welcomed. Since September 2020, Cl6ass B1 has been merged into the new use



Class E, which includes a wide range of commercial uses. The commercial units on site
would be restricted under Use Class E(g) which permits the following uses:

¢ an office to carry out any operational or administrative functions, (Offices — formerly
use class B1(a));

e the research and development of products or processes, or (formerly use class B1(b));

e any industrial process, being a use, which can be carried out in any residential area
without detriment to the amenity of that area by reason of noise, vibration, smell,
fumes, smoke, soot, ash, dust or grit. (Light Industrial — formerly use class B1(c)).

6.7.3 Given the proximity to the proposed residential housing, the use of the units would be
restricted to Use Class E(g) through a planning condition, to prevent any inappropriate
industrial uses on site or uses that are more appropriate within a high street setting.

6.8 Having regard to the various criteria set out in the Neighbourhood Plan Policy BSE1

6.8.1 BSEL Ciriterion 1: The scheme complies with the “site development principles” illustrated
in the map in Appendix 9 of this plan:

Foszidie Pedestrian
_-» | Route toViiage Centre

#9m

i

Exzong
Vehicular
Enfrance

10im

Figure 1: NDP Appendix 9 Map Figure 2: Application Block Plan

6.8.2 The related map in Appendix 9 is compared against the Site Layout submitted with this
application.

6.8.3 The above Figure 1 from the BNDP defines the area intended for development marked
in brown hatch, alongside an area of undeveloped landscaping bordering the edges of the
site and a larger parcel to the north. The current application, illustrated in Figure 2 generally
mirrors the developable and landscaping areas, albeit the development encroaches slightly
further to the north in the north eastern corner.

6.8.4 The existing access is illustrated on the NDP Appendix 9 map with a potential
alternative access illustrated with a black dotted line. The applicant proposes to utilise the
existing access as identified in the NDP.

6.8.5 It is therefore considered that the proposed scheme broadly complies with the site
development principles as set out under BSE1. The encroachment of development to the
north eastern corner of the site is assessed for its Landscape Visual Impact and impact on
neighbouring properties below and is considered acceptable for the purposes of this policy
criteria. 61



6.8.6 BSEL1 Criterion 2: A development scheme can include housing to provide a viability
incentiveto assist with the redevelopment of the site;

6.8.7 The proposed scheme includes a residential element in the form of 9 open market
houses and six apartments (forming the first floor above the live-work units). From the
information submitted, the site is challenging to develop not least because of its topography
and existing buildings and floor slabs which need removal, but also abnormal costs such as
the provision of mains drainage to the site. As part of the application submission, an updated
Financial Viability Assessment (FVA) has been provided indicating that the development is
unable to provide affordable housing or make a financial contribution to provide affordable
housing.

6.8.8 The Council has instructed Vickery Holman to provide an independent FVA of the
proposed development and to consider the development proposal and development mix, to
undertake research and investigation, and to prepare a revised appraisal taking into account
market changes since 2021. The independent appraisal from Vickery Holman has concluded
that the proposed development has merit not least in that it appears to meet the ambitions of
the Neighbourhood Plan, but also the site’s attributes in terms of its location within a good
residential market area, its open southerly aspects, and the commerciality of the road
frontage which provides an opportunity for economic growth. The site is challenging to
develop. not least because of its topography and existing buildings and floor slabs which
need removal, but also abnormal on-site and off-site build costs such as the provision of
retaining walls, site re-grading, demolition and site clearance (including asbestos removal
and removal of concrete slabs), highway improvement works, provision of mains drainage,
and energy enhancement measures.

6.8.9 The Bishopsteignton NDP is silent on the required provision of affordable housing and
therefore Policy WE2 of the Teignbridge Local Plan is used to assess any requirement. WE2
requires the site to deliver 30% affordable housing, equating to 5 affordable dwellings. The
submitted Viability Assessment assessed the feasibility of delivering 5 affordable units,
alongside the aspiration for employment uses on site. The viability appraisal also assessed a
reduced level of contributions for the equivalent of 2 affordable dwellings (13%) and 1
affordable unit (1%) and came to the conclusion that delivering affordable housing would be
unviable.

6.8.10 The independent assessment from Vickery Holman concurs with that opinion.

6.8.11 In addition, the independent viability assessment from Vickery Holman has made an
assumption that an affordable housing provision off-site may be more suitable and has
consequently undertaken an appraisal on that basis. That assessment concludes that the
proposed scheme would not be viable if it had to make an off-site affordable housing
contribution and include the required planning obligations for habitat mitigation and off-site
public open space. Without an affordable housing contribution, the proposed scheme is still
marginally viable but, given the current market conditions, the strong demand for sites and
anticipated further growth in property values in the south west, particularly in coastal
locations such as Bishopsteignton, albeit balanced against further estimates in cost increase,
the margins are likely to improve in the future. However, a clause would be included in the
Section 106 agreement to ensure that any uplift in site value would be captured for affordable
housing contributions.

6.8.12 As such, both the submitted Viability Assessment and the conclusions of the
independent review conclude that the affordable housing requirement cannot feasibly be
delivered alongside employment-led uses on this site. It is therefore for the Planning



Committee to weigh up the desire for much needed affordable housing against meeting the
aspirations of the Bishopsteignton NDP to provide employment uses on site. Officers are of
the opinion that Local Plan Policy S22 establishes the acceptable development types within
the countryside which can include employment and affordable housing but does not include
market housing. As noted above, Neighbourhood Plans are only required to stand in general
conformity with the strategic policies of the Local Plan. The Neighbourhood Plan diverges
from these use types by allocating a mixed-use site outside the current settlement boundary.
However, this was found to be within the acceptable range of what is considered to be in
general conformity by the Neighbourhood Plan examiner and therefore supersedes that
element of Policy S22.

6.8.13 BSE1 Criterion 3: The housing component shall be subsidiary in floor space to the
employment component and not brought into use until the related employment element is
constructed and ready for use.

6.8.14 The total floor space for both the residential and commercial units have not been
provided as part of this application as scale is not a matter for consideration as part of this
application. Nevertheless, a condition is recommended requiring the construction of the
commercial units and their availability for use prior to occupation of any of the dwellings and
residential apartments.

6.8.15 BSE1 Criterion 4: Live-work units are encouraged. These units will be controlled to be
permanently linked to the employment use to which they relate by planning conditions based on
those in appendix 9 of the plan.

6.8.16 Six live-work units have been proposed and this is supported. The link between the
residential and employment uses of these units is also a matter for planning condition
(guided by Appendix 9 of the Bishopsteignton NDP) and does not prejudice the principle of
development of this site for the stated uses.

6.8.17 BSEL1 Criterion 5: Housing which is unattached to an employment use may also be
considered provided it can be demonstrated that it will not prejudice the operation of the
employment use and the overall amount of housing is subsidiary in floor space to the
employment use

6.8.18 The total floor space for both the residential and commercial units have not been
provided as part of this application as scale is not a matter for consideration as part of this
application. The proposed layout indicates separate internal estate roads serving the
residential and the commercial developments, albeit both developments would be served by
the same access into and out of the site. The use of the commercial units would be limited by
condition to ensure there would be no detriment to the residential amenities of future
occupiers of the dwellings (and thus minimizing any possible future complaints from
residents regarding statutory nuisance)

6.8.19 BSE1 Criterion 6: Proposals should be accompanied by a full ecological assessment
of the site to show that any European protected species matters are satisfactorily addressed.

6.8.20 The planning application is accompanied by a preliminary ecological appraisal and
follow up Phase 2 surveys which identifies the site to be of relatively low ecological interest
but recognises further work will be required at the Reserved Matters stage.

6.8.21 The surveys identified small day roosts for three common bat species and hibernation
roosts for pipistrelle bats. As the existing buildings will be demolished, a European Protected
Species Licence (EPSL) will be required frgrg Natural England for this development to



continue lawfully and the LPA must consider ‘the Three Tests’ and whether Natural England
is likely to grant an EPS License. It is considered that the Favourable Conservation Status,
Need and, Alternatives Tests are met, and that Natural England are likely to issue an EPS
license, conditional on following the mitigation measures proposed. Further information has
also been provided as part of this application to ensure that appropriate mitigation to
compensate for the loss of roosts can be accommodated within the site layout. A detailed
lighting assessment will be required to establish light levels across the site at Reserved
Matters.

6.8.22 In addition, the Local Planning Authority has undertaken a Habitats Regulations
Appropriate Assessment for the Dawlish Warren SAC and Exe Estuary SPA/ Ramsar site of
the scheme, which concluded that subject to the agreed Joint Approach Standard Mitigation
contribution being secured through a Section 206 Unilateral Undertaking, there would be no
adverse effect on integrity of the Exe Estuary SPA and Ramsar site and/or the Dawlish
Warren SAC.

6.8.23 BSE1 Criteria 7: Proposals should demonstrate via a travel plan how modes of
transport other than the car can be encouraged to serve the site.

6.8.24 Given that the end users of the commercial units are undetermined at this stage, a
travel plan has not been submitted with this outline application but will be expected as part of
any future Reserved Matters application. Although not a requirement to make the
redevelopment of this site acceptable, the applicant has proposed additional off-site works as
part of this application to improve pedestrian accessibility to existing bus stop infrastructure
on the A381, and the opposite side of Forder Lane. This is welcomed and would encourage
the use of an existing bus service for residents of the proposed dwellings and also
employees travelling to the site from Newton Abbot, Teignmouth and the eastern side of
Bishopsteignton, as well as residents of nearby existing dwellings. A condition is
recommended requiring completion of these highway improvement works prior to
commencement of development.

6.8.25 In conclusion, it is therefore considered that, as far as possible, the scheme proposed
in this outline application complies with the seven criteria set out under Bishopsteignton NDP
Policy BSEL.

Conflicts with the Teignbridge Local Plan 2013 - 2033

6.9 Where a Neighbourhood Plan conflicts with a local plan policy, the most up to date plan
should take precedence. The application site is currently located within an area of
Undeveloped Coast as designated on the Local Plan policies map and Local Plan policy
EN2. This potential conflict was previously addressed by the Neighbourhood Plan examiner
as follows:

“Policy BSE 1 supports the redevelopment of the Bakers Yard site for employment use with
the potential for some limited residential development to act as a catalyst to provide a viable
development proposal. | note that the siteis within an area designated as “undeveloped
coast’ where the Local Plan establishes a presumption against this type of development in
policy EN2.

However, basic conditions require “general conformity” with the development plan. The Local
Plan policy EN2 is also concerned to protect, maintain and enhance this sensitive landscape
which is currently despoiled by the derelict Bakers Yard. Local Plan policy S22 states
development and investment will be managed to6;21rovide attractive, accessible and



biodiversity landscapes, sustainable settlements and a resilient rural economy. The sensitive
redevelopment of the Bakers Yard site has the potential to improve the landscape setting by
removing dereliction, create employment and provide residential accommodation to achieve

a more sustainable community in line with the “overarching objectives” of the Local Plan and
the NPPF.

| note that a substantial 85% of respondents to the Plan support the redevelopment of
Bakers Yard and the District Council have no objections.

On the basis of the above reasoning, | consider that the policy BSE1 can be regarded as in

”

“general conformity” with the development plan and conforms to “basic conditions”.

6.10 The NDP examiner therefore considered the policy conflict to be minor because
appropriate redevelopment of the site has the potential to improve the landscape setting of
the Undeveloped Coast and stands in accordance with strategic Local Plan Policy S22.

6.11 It should also be noted that the application site is proposed to be removed from the
Undeveloped Coast, as part of the adoption of Draft Local Plan 2020-2040.

6.12 The allocation of Bakers Yard, in accordance with the policies of the Neighbourhood
Plan, particularly BSE1, which stands in a more up-to-date development plan document than
the Local Plan, should take precedence over Local Plan policy EN2 and therefore the
principle of the redevelopment of the site for an employment-led use is considered
acceptable in this regard.

Landscape Character and Appearance of the Area

6.13 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF sets out that planning decisions should ensure that
developments are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built
environment and landscape setting. Paragraph 170 states thatplanning decisions should
protect and enhance valued landscapes in a manner commensurate with their statutory
status.

6.14 Policy EN2A: Landscape Protection and Enhancement of the Teignbridge Local Plan
requires development to be sympathetic to and help to conserve and enhancethe natural and
cultural landscape and seascape character of Teignbridge. Whilst the principle of developing
within the Undeveloped Coast in this location has been addressed by the Neighbourhood
Development Plan examiner, EN2 is still important to consider, in that development, which
would have a detrimental effecton the character of the Undeveloped Coast and estuaries will
not be permitted.

Landscape Character Assessment

6.15 Landscape Character Assessment is the process of identifying and describing variations
in the character of the landscape. Such Assessment identify and explain the combination of
elements and features that make landscapes distinct from one another and the associated
description of their distinctive characteristics shows how the landscape is perceived and
experienced by people.

6.16 The application site lies within the Teign Estuary Landscape Character Area. The Teign
Estuary as a landscape includes the broad tidal river channel, intertidal areas and adjacent
lower slopes. The estuary is defined by steeply rising high rounded hills with distinctive folds
to the north and south. The river channel and the intertidal mudflats with their dynamic pattern
of winding creeks dominate the Iandscapee%;wd along with the enclosing hills and expansive



cross-estuary views, provide a very strong sense of place. At high tide the estuary becomes
a large expanse of water, and the changing tides and presence of seabirds and waders add
diversity and movement. To the south, there is a succession of sheltered inlets with shingle
beaches at the mouths of combes; and intervening sandstone cliffs; while to the north gently
rising slopes with an undulating shoreline give way to steeper hills around Bishopsteignton
and Teignmouth. On these valley sides, land use is predominantly pastoral with strong
hedgerow patterns. This is also considered a busy landscape with movement along transport
corridors and recreational activity on the estuary, although greater tranquility can be found
within secluded combes and along parts of the estuary shore. This landscape has notable
views to adjacent landscapes and other landscapes further afield, including Dartmoor; while
at the mouth of the estuary, Shaldon and Teignmouth frame views out to sea.

6.17 The Landscape Character Assessment’s strategy for the Teign Estuary seeks to protect
and conserve the scenic quality and nature conservation value of the landscape.
Opportunities to conserve and enhance estuary views and intertidal habitats, hedgerows,
woodland and historic features are sought. New developmentshould respect the character
and quality of estuary views. The pattern of fields, hedgerows and narrow lanes continues to
reflect the area’s historic and vernacularcharacter. The strategy also makes
recommendations regarding development to:

“Ensure the sensitive location of new development, avoiding prominent valleysides...” and;

“Conserve the scattered rural settlement pattern of houses, farmsteads and hamlets and
ensure that new development reflects vernacular character”

Impact on Landscape Character

6.18 The application site is currently developed with a range of large-scale single storey
buildings reflecting its former use as a horticultural nursery. The existing buildings are in
various states of disrepair and dilapidation, and they are easily perceived in the landscape,
particularly from the nearby County highway (A381) and wider views.

6.19 Although “Scale” is not a matter for consideration at this outline application stage, the
site slopes steeply from north to south and therefore the impact of the proposed layout on
the landscape character must be considered. Previous iterations of the site layout had the
highest roof line at 9.4m higher than the roof line of Orchard Cottage. Development at this
height in the landscape was considered to result in a character of development that would sit
poorly at the edge of the settlement and result in an unacceptable adverse impact on the
Landscape Character of the Teign Estuary. It was therefore recommended that the layout of
thescheme was amended to ensure that rooflines did not extend any higher in the landscape
than 39.00m AOD and therefore limiting development to no more than 5 metres above the
roofline of the neighbouring dwelling of Orchard Cottage. These amendments were made
and deemed acceptable by the then TDC Landscape Officer during previous application
19/00800/MAJ and have been replicated on the Site Layout submitted for this application.

6.20 When determining that previous application 19/00800/MAJ, the proposed impact on
Landscape character was deemed to be acceptable by the Planning Committee in that such
a reason did not form part of the decision to refuse that previous application on 27™" May
2022.

Impact on Visual Amenity

6.21 Visual amenity often covers design, scale and massing of development in terms of the
character of the surrounding area and use of materials. In planning terms ‘amenity’ is often



used to refer to the quality or character of a development scheme.

6.22 Given the sensitivity of the landscape and the position of the development within the
valley, ensuring an appropriate development scale and its impact on Visual Amenity is
essential to complying with Local Plan Policy EN2 and EN2a. Within the Landscape
Character Area, the development will be most easily perceived from publicly accessible land on
the opposite side of the estuary. In particular, wider views from the area around Coombe
Cellars public house and the Templar Way Public Right of Way, approximately 1km distance
from the site. These locations are highly sensitive receptors. The development will also be
visible from Public Rights of Ways and lanes at higher elevations on the south side of the
estuary, albeit at a much greater distance.

6.23 Again, whilst “Scale” is not a matter for consideration, the above-mentioned amendments
to the site layout reduced initial concerns that the scale of development and the suggested
massing of buildings would be at odds with the village edge context and result in an adverse
change to the scenery from wider views. In addition, it is accepted that planting, including
tree species to match the surrounding context, could be expected to hide lower elevations,
partially obscure the roofline and create a treed backdrop. “Landscape” is to be a Reserved
Matter and therefore details of a proposed landscaping scheme will need to submitted at a
later stage, (should outline planning permission be granted). However, it is acknowledged that
the visual impact of the proposal would lessen over time as the proposed landscaping
becomes established. Considering the collective visual and landscape impacts of the
scheme, it is concluded that the impact on wider landscape views and the character of the
area would be limited in the long term but would nonetheless have short term localised
impact for residents and some recreational walkers and cyclistson the opposite side of the
Teign Estuary.

6.24 The A381 and Forder Lane provide the opportunity for localised views. However, these
are more difficult to obtain due to the existing established site boundary. When viewed from a
vehicle, a view of the site is fleeting during the travelling movement and at no point does a
view of the site linger. The proposed scheme utilises the existing access from Forder Lane,
and whilst this will need to be widened to accommodate visibility splay requirements, this
change will be minor in nature in its context.

6.25 Itis considered that localised views of the proposed development would be limited
from Forder Lane and any change in localised views are considered to be an enhancement
on the perception of the condition of the existing site, particularly from neighbouring
properties, who currently experience the dilapidated nature of the site in their immediate
environment.

6.26 It is therefore considered that the proposed development can be accommodated on the
site without significant erosion of the character and visual amenity of the area or harm to the
setting of the Teign Estuary.

6.27 During the previous application, the TDC Landscape Officer has confirmed in his
response of July 2021 that in terms of wider landscape impacts at a strategic level, the
development is compliant with Policy EN2A as the site is closely attached to the existing
settlement, in a discreet location, small, reasonably well integrated into the settlement and
landscape pattern with good boundary treatment. The context of the surrounding landscape
has not significantly changed since this assessment was made, and furthermore surrounding
vegetation has matured to further screen views into the site.

6.28 One of the submitted drawings indicates that the maximum ridge level of the dwellings
will not exceed 39.0 AOD. In addition, the commercial units 8 and 9, which are sited closest



to the southern boundary (approximately 8.4 metres from the southern wall of the nearest
unit to the southern boundary) and approximately 10 metres from the western boundary are
shown to be single storey in nature. In terms of visual amenity, it is considered appropriate
that conditions are imposed to reflect these suggested heights in order to guide the evolution
of the scheme in terms of maximum heights at the reserved matters stage. Mindful of this,
Officers are therefore comfortable that the development remains compliant with Local Plan
Policy EN2A.

Design and Layout

6.29 National guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) confirms that
good design and creation of high-quality buildings and places is a key aspect ofsustainable
development and is fundamental to planning. In addition, planning decisions should ensure
that developments will function well, are visually attractive as a result of good architecture,
layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, and are sympathetic to local character and
history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting. Whilst
appearance and landscaping are matters to be reserved, the proposed layout of the site is
assessedas part of this outline application.

6.30 Policy S2 of the Local Plan requires new development to be of high-quality design which
will support the creation of attractive, vibrant places. Designs should be specific to the place,
based on a clear process which analyses and responds to thecharacteristics of the site, its
wider context and the surrounding area, creating a place with a distinctive character.

6.31 A coherent and logical layout has been proposed for the site, utilising the steep
topography to separate the employment and live-work uses at the bottom of the site from the
residential dwellings and the landscape buffer towards the northern end of the site. The live-
work units act as an intermediary buffer between the two uses. Given the aspiration for an
employment-led site during the Neighbourhood Plan preparation process, it was considered
important that the employment uses should be visible from the site entrance and act as the
‘gateway’ to the site. As such, the proposed layout is welcomed in this regard. It will allow for
servicing traffic between the various uses to be separated. Service, refuse and delivery
vehicles to the commercial and work units would use the ‘lower’ southerly internal road and
communal parking area, whereas traffic associated with the various residential uses will use
the ‘upper’ northerly internal road.

6.32 In addition, it is considered that the proposed distances between the dwellings and
employment uses are suitable (being approximately 15 metres) and all dwellings, including
the live-work units, have been given private outdoor space (boundary treatments to be
considered at Reserved Matters stage). It is noted that the residential units have been given
at least 2 off-street parking spaces to prevent the parking of vehicles on the internal roads.

6.33 Neighbourhood Development Plan policy BSE2 also provides guidance on the required
scale and siting of the scheme, alongside other considerations:

“Support the provision of local business enterprise and employment within the Parish, which
is of a scale and nature which is not detrimental to living conditions and complies with the
relevant locational, design and environmental policies set out inthis Plan and the Teignbridge
Local Plan (Policy S22)”.

6.34 The Reserved Matters scheme should therefore ensure it is of a scale which is not
detrimental to the living conditions of future occupiers and neighbouring properties and
complies with Local Plan Policy S22. A condition is recommended in respect of proposed floor
levels and ridge heights to guide evolution of the s§heme during the Reserved Matters



process. It is expected that the final design of the development will draw on inspiration from
within Bishopsteignton regarding the choice of materials and elevational treatments.

6.35 It is considered that the proposal offers an acceptable layout that responds well to the
topography of the site and Bishopsteignton while creating a place with distinctive character.
Therefore, notwithstanding the change in character of the site, the proposal would
nonetheless provide a high-quality environment though the layout and would not conflict with
policy S2.

Impact on Residential Amenity

6.36 Policy S1 (Sustainable Development Criteria) of the Local Plan specifies that proposals
will be required to perform well against 10 criteria. Criterion (e) relates toprotecting
residential amenity of existing and committed dwellings particularly with regard to privacy,
security, outlook and natural light.

6.37 The topography of the site and immediate surrounding land slopes from the north with
the potential for views towards the south. With regard to the potential for impact on amenity,
the two properties of concern are ‘Orchard Cottage’, adjoining the site boundary to the south
east and ‘Green Oaks’, adjoining the site boundary to the west.

6.38 Concerns have been raised within the representations received regarding the potential
for overlooking from the proposed houses, and also the potential for overbearing impact of
the employment units to the east of the site. Whilst the "scale” of the proposed buildings is to
be determined, the layout of the proposed development has sought to ensure that the
proposed units do not immediately abut the site boundaries to ensure there would be no
undue overlooking or overbearing impact that would arise for existing residential properties
adjoining the site.

6.39 With regard to Orchard Cottage, the main outlook from this property is towards the south
with views over the river to the slopes beyond. Its western gable wall is free of window
openings and its northern elevation contains several rooflights visible from the site, but with
windows being largely screened from the site by boundary means of enclosure.

6.40 All of the proposed live-work units and employmentunits are proposed to be sited at the
same level or below Orchard Cottage, preventing the opportunity for overlooking from these
units. It has been indicated that the two employment units closest to the boundary with
‘Orchard Cottage’ are likely to be one-storey high, which would be deemed an acceptable
scale for the site and would prevent the units becoming an overbearing presence to the
neighbouring property. A condition is recommended to this effect, notwithstanding that
“Scale” is a reserved Matter, because such a condition will provide clear guidance as to the
scale deemed to be acceptable at reserved Matters stage. The live-work units are likely to be
two storeys in height and therefore the elevational treatment of Unit 7 (closest to the
boundary with ‘Orchard Cottage’ will need to be considered to ensure there are no
overlooking opportunities towards ‘Orchard Cottage’.

6.41 The proposed boundary treatments for the site and the landscaping scheme are to be
decided at Reserved Matters and will be key to ensuring that there isn’t the potential for
overlooking from the upper floors of residential plots 8 and 9 into the private garden area of
Orchard Cottage.

6.42 With regard to ‘Green Oaks’, the primary cause for concern will be the potential for
overlooking from the upper floor of the dwelling on plot 1. As with ‘Orchard Cottage’, the
proposed boundary treatment will need to be considered to ensure that it is robustenough to



prevent any overlooking opportunities into the private garden area of Green Oaks.

6.43 Notwithstanding the above, it is considered that the proposed layout is sufficient inthat
the residential amenity of nearby properties will not be unacceptably affected.

6.44. In addition, consideration should be given to the inter-relationship between the various
different elements of the proposed development itself. The proposed live/work units and
Commercial Unit 1 are indicated as being two storey in height. They will be situated
approximately 15 metres to the south of the proposed dwellings. Also, the floor levels of the
live/work units will be 3 metres lower than the floor levels of the dwellings. As such, the
distances between the live/work units and the dwellings and the 3 metres differences in
respective floor levels would mean that the proposed dwellings to the north would not have
unacceptable overshadowing and loss of sunlight caused by the live/work units being two
storeys in height, nor would there be any resultant dominance or overbearing impact caused
to the amenities of the future occupiers of the dwellings.

6.45 Whilst a certain level of disruption during the construction phase is inevitable, Devon
County Highway Authority has requested a condition requiring thesubmission and approval of
a Construction Management Plan (CMP) prior to the commencement of the development in
the interests of local amenity.

6.46 Overall, the layout of the dwellings and employment units proposed and the layout of
the scheme and its relationship with the existing neighbouring dwellings is considered
acceptable and would provide an acceptable level of amenity for future occupiers. The
proposed development accords with Policy S1 in this regard.

Existing Trees

6.47 Currently, the site includes a mix of scrub and low-lying hedgerows/bushes, albeit there
are a few mature trees, none of which are subject to a TPO. Two such trees are growing to
the east of the site entrance. An arboricultural survey, carried out about 8 years ago, showed
only an Ash tree surrounded by other planting. A recent site visit has revealed the presence
of a large conifer next to the Ash. If the conifer was present at the time of the original survey,
it was possibly very small and certainly not as dominant as it currently is. The proposal
involves removing the conifer, surrounding self-seeded shrubs and any parasitic growth, but
to retain the original Ash tree. An internal footway and pedestrian access onto Forder Lane
have been laid out. A condition is recommended seeking retention of the tree and necessary
protection works, In addition, the Council is investigating the appropriateness of serving a
TPO on the tree and, at the time of compiling his report, currently awaits advice from an
independent arboriculturalist.

6.48 Subject to the submission of a detailed landscape plan showing significant tree planting
at Reserved Matters stage, there are no arboricultural objections to the proposed
development.

Impact on Biodiversity and European sites

6.49 Policies EN8 Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement, EN9 Important Habitats and
Features, EN10 European Wildlife Sites and EN11 Legally Protected and Priority Species
and Policies EN10 Biodiversity and geodiversity, EN11 Important Habitats and Features,
EN12 Legally Protected and Priority Species, EN14 Exe Estuary and Dawlish Warren and
EN15 South Hams SAC are the relevant adopted TLP Policies and require that protected
species and habitats are protected and enhanced. Paragraph 187 of the NPPF require
development proposals to minimise harm to bioc%\bersity and provides opportunities for



biodiversity enhancement.

6.50 The application site is within 10km of the Exe Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA) and
Ramsar site and Dawlish Warren Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and is therefore
subject to the requirements of the 2017 Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations.
The applicant has indicated a willingness to make the Joint Approach financial contribution
towards the mitigation of impacts from increased recreation pressure on the SPA and SAC.
The development would therefore require the completion of a Section 106 agreement to pay
the Habitat MitigationContribution before development commences. Subject to the Joint
Approach Habitat Mitigation Regulations contribution being secured via a Section 106
agreement, the LPA as Competent Authority, is able to conclude that there will be no likely
significant effect on the Exe Estuary SPA and Ramsar site and Dawlish Warren SAC such
that this does not constitute any reason for refusal of the development.

Bats

6.51 The site is within the Landscape Connectivity Zone (LCZ) of the South Hams SAC,
designated for Greater Horseshoe Bats. This species is very light averse and navigates the
landscape by following linear features such as hedges. Additional external lighting and light
spill can adversely affect Greater Horseshoe Bats, as can the loss of and the illumination of
linear flyways. A Habitats Regulations screening for Likely Significant Effect on the South
Hams SAC concluded that, as the proposal is within the LCZ rather than a Sustenance Zone,
Significant Effects are Unlikely. Therefore, an Appropriate Assessment of the proposal is not
necessary. However, there will be impacts on Greater Horseshoe Bats and other species at
a ‘sub-SAC level’ and therefore a suite of avoidance, mitigation and compensation measures
have been secured by condition.

6.52 The buildings on site provide hibernation and summer day roosts for Common and
Soprano Pipistrelle Bats and day roosts of Brown Long-Eared Bats. A night feeding roost for
Lesser Horseshoe Bats was present in small structure at the very north of the site and a
purpose built replacement bat night roost is secured on the site layout.

6.53 The site is within an area known (from radio-tracking surveys) to be used for foraging by
Grey Long-Eared Bats from the nearby maternity roost in Bishopsteignton. This very rare
species is also very light-averse.

6.54 The retention and protection of existing boundary hedges and trees and those within the
retained green infrastructure area at the north of the site is required. However, cotoneaster
and other invasive non-native species should be removed and replaced with native species.
A Strategic Lighting Plan has been secured by condition. The required compensatory bat
roost building should be designed to also cater for Greater Horseshoe Bats (i.e. a larger
building with a larger access) as compensation for loss of Greater Horseshoe Bats using the
site for foraging. The roost entrance must be positioned away from light spill from the
development.

6.55 An updated Ecological Impact Assessment (EclA) has been submitted, presenting the
findings of follow-up surveys that have been undertaken since the previous application.
Additional mitigation measures relating to badgers, nesting birds, barn owls and reptiles are
recommended within the EclA and will be secured through a planning condition.

6.56 It should be noted that initially, TDC’s Biodiversity Officer put a holding objection on the
application until further survey work was undertaken on the ‘Active Travel Route’ originally
presented when this planning application was first submitted. As this element of the scheme
has been removed, the holding objection n%ll-onger applies.



6.57 Subject to the recommended conditions and obligations to secure the required
biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures as set out above, the proposed
development is considered acceptable with regards to the Exe Estuary SPA and Ramsar site
and Dawlish Warren SAC, protected species and biodiversity.

6.58 It should be noted that this application was submitted on 23" May 2023 which falls
before the key date of 12 February 2024, whereafter major developments are required to
provide mandatory 10% biodiversity net gain. As such, mandatory 10% net gain is not
required for this development.

Highways and Sustainable Transport

6.59 Policy S1 of the Teignbridge Local Plan requires development to be accessible by
walking, cycling and public transport, particularly work, shopping, leisure and education and
to not harm highway safety or create unacceptable levels of congestion. Policy S9 seeks to
encourage sustainable transport choices through and integrated approach to transport.

6.60 The proposed development would utilise the existing access off an adjacent side road, a
C classified County Route restricted to 30mph, off Forder Lane, the direct route into the
village. Since the submission of further detail relating to the proposed access, Devon County
Highways Authority has raised no objections to the design of the proposed access which has
suitable visibility in both directions. It is considered thatthis development can be provided with
suitable access and without detriment to thesafe operation of the local transport network.

6.61 In respect of on-site parking provision, a communal parking area of 26 vehicular parking
spaces are proposed to the south of the live/work units, with an additional 6 parking spaces
to the north of the live/work units. The proposed 7 x four bedroom dwellings are each to have
a double garage and two parking spaces, as is one of the 2 x two bedroom dwellings. The
other two bedroomed dwelling would have two parking spaces. In addition, the submitted
application form confirms there would be provision for 30 cycle spaces.

6.62 Devon County Highway Authority has confirmed that it is happy with the amount of
proposed parking on site, as this is in line with the parking standards set out in the emerging
Local Plan and that sufficient surface water drainage measures including road gullies, have
been provided to ensure that surface water does not flow onto the public highway. The
proposed access is to be in place prior to the occupation of the first building on site, and the
on-site parking for each phase of development is to be in place prior to the occupation of the
buildings within that phase.

6.63 Upon submission of this application, Devon County Highway Authority remained
concerned about the lack of footway from the application site to the village centre. Forder
Lane serves as a district distributor road for Bishopsteignton and is expected to carry HGVs
and higher levels of traffic. Furthermore, Forder Lane is positively signed from the A381 to
the centre of the village, creating conflict between vehicular traffic and pedestrians using the
road.

6.64 Mindful of this, during the determination of this application, Officers have been in
discussion with the applicant to agree a Grampian Condition that would be attached to any
permission. As set out in the previous section of this report, the Grampian Condition would
prevent any of the buildings permitted to be constructed until a safe crossing point and off-
site pedestrian footpaths have been delivered. As required by the emerging Local Plan Policy
V3: Bakers Yard, a crossing point from the Bakers Yard application site to the V2 Forder
Lane allocation site is included as part of the off-73i2te highway works proposed within this



current application.

6.65 Devon County Highways Authority agrees with the principle of applying a Grampian
Condition in this instance, given that there is a reasonable chance of both sites being
delivered in the near future. In the event that one or both of the sites do not come forward for
development, and the crossing or footpath is not implemented, neither the commercial nor
residential elements of the proposed development on this V3 site could be constructed,
eliminating the risk of empty buildings.

6.66 It should be noted that, as the site is allocated for development in the Bishopsteignton
Neighbourhood Development Plan, the site’s suitability in relation to both pedestrian and
vehicular access was assessed as part of that Plan’s adoption process. Neighbourhood
Development Plan Policy BSE1 references the need for a Sustainable Travel Plan to be
agreed as part of any future development on the site, indicating that it was accepted at the
time of writing the policy that primary access would be via vehicles, and alternative
sustainable options should be explored. Furthermore, Appendix 9 of BSE1 also indicates the
location of a ‘possible pedestrian route’ to the village. Although the policy wording does not
require a pedestrian path to be delivered for any development to be acceptable, Officers are
comfortable the Grampian condition would help to achieve the aspiration of the NDP policy.

6.67 However, as noted by Policy BSE1, Sustainable Travel options must be explored in
order to minimise the site’s reliance on the private vehicle. The site is located a close
distance to existing bus services with the existing bus stops close to the site and being
served by services at relatively high frequency. Although not a requirement to enable
development on the site, off-site highway works are proposed to improve pedestrian
accessibility to these public transport options on the A381, with bus travel through to
Teignmouth to the east and Kingsteignton and Newton Abbot to the west. These include:

e Relocation of the west bound bus stop to a safer location, with a new connecting
footpath along the start of Forder Lane. Dropped kerbing and tactile paving will be
provided to the south side of the A381 alongside the bus stop area. The buses will
stop on the highway (as is currently the case) with ‘bus stop’ signage painted on the
road itself, as is currently the case with the existing east bound bus stop;

e Provision of dropped kerb and tactile paving to create crossing point from the north
side of the A381 to the westbound bus stop;

e Provision of dropped kerb and tactile paving to create a crossing point from south of
the application site to the south side of Forder Lane, connecting to new footpath. This
will cater for a new footpath within the application site and has been positioned on the
outside of the bend of Forder Lane in order to allow retention of a prominent tree;

¢ Widening of the existing footway between A381 and Forder Lane to 2 metres in width;
and,

e Location of the existing east bound bus stop to be retained and connected towidened
footpath.

6.68 A Safety Audit for the off-site works has been provided and assessed by Devon County
Highways Authority as being acceptable, to be secured through a separate Section 278
agreement, following any grant of planning permission. Given that the end users of the
commercial units are undetermined at this stage, a Travel Plan has not been submitted with
this outline application but would be expected as part of any future Reserved Matters

application. 73



6.69 There are no present links to existing cycle routes for the site but the forthcoming Teign
Estuary Cycle Trail will provide a link from the southern side of the village providing a new
facility for journeys to Teignmouth and Newton Abbot with access within 800m of the Land
South of Forder Lane site.

6.70 Internal roads within the new development have been designed to be compliant with
Devon County Council’s Highway Design Guide and Manual for Streets principles. Minimum
gradients are satisfied and there would be sufficient space/turning areas for a large refuse
vehicle to enter and exit the site and navigate the internal arrangement. Forward visibility and
junction/driveway visibility have been reviewed and the submitted drawings confirm that the
arrangements are satisfactory.

6.71 The proposed access is considered acceptable in terms of highway safety. Devon
County Highways Authority has removed its objection relating to the site’s pedestrian
accessibility, given the agreement of the Grampian Condition. As layout is a matter to be
considered at this stage, the possibility of connecting the site to an additional footpath
connection in the future has been safeguarded, as well as improved access to existing public
transport options secured. It is therefore considered that the technical details of the
application accords with Policy S1.

Parking & Waste

6.72 34 parking spaces are provided for the residential element of the site (9 dwellings),
including the double garages. One designated parking space is proposed for each live/work
unit and a further 26 communal parking spaces are proposed for the three commercial units.
The amount and location of the parking proposed in the development is considered to be
sufficient and would not result in unwarranted parking of vehicles on the nearby highway
network. It is considered acceptable that cycle parking provision for the residential units
would be within the proposed garages. However, cycle parking provision for the commercial
units have not been shown on the submitted plans and therefore would be secured through
condition.

6.73 The internal roads are proposed to be adopted and therefore a Swept Path Analysishas
been submitted demonstrating that a Teignbridge refuse vehicle can access and turn within
the proposed parking court for the commercial area and within the residential street. Further
detail on the bin stores and collection points for the development will be required through
condition.

Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage

6.74 A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and Drainage Strategy has been submitted with the
application which considers the implications of the development in terms of flood risk and
water management for the site and proposes recommendations for a drainage strategy. The
application site is within Flood Zone 1 and therefore a sequential test is not required.

6.75 It is proposed to connect to the existing foul sewer network at the top of Forder Lane
with the benefit of a small pumping station, given the site levels. South West Water has
confirmed sufficient capacity is available within the existing network. This is an acceptable
solution in terms of the drainage hierarchy.

6.76 The Environment Agency has been consulted and, following the submission of an
updated FRA has withdrawn its previous objection, subsequentto South West Water
confirming that sufficient capacity is available within the existing foul network. If the detailed



design of the pumping station will include provision for emergency overflow then this may
require an Environmental Permit with strict conditions to be met to allow the emergency
overflow to legitimately operate.

6.77 In addition to addressing the flood risk matters associated with the proposed
development, the developer is required to provide a suitable Sustainable DrainageScheme to
deal with surface water. It is proposed that the surface water from the development will be
drained to sewers adopted by South West Water, which will in turn drain to an attenuation
facility, into a new adoptable drain into Forder Lane and then an unnamed water course,
south east of the site in the south side of Forder Lane.

6.78 DCC Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has raised no in principle objections,subject to
conditions requiring full drainage design and management.

6.79 The Environment Agency has not raised any concerns that the proposed development
would result in any measurable increase in frequency of flooding to third party land post
development compared to predevelopment.

6.80 Mindful of these consultation responses from the Environment Agency, the LLFA and
SWW, it is considered that the scheme is in accordance with Policy EN4 (Flood Risk) of the
Local Plan. A condition requiring details of the pumping station is recommended to ensure
that it is appropriately located without compromising the boundary landscaping and site
design principles.

Green Infrastructure, Public Open Space and Play Provision

6.81. Whilst the application site is primarily employment-led, family sized homes are
proposed as part of the scheme and therefore should be assessed against Local Plan Policy
WEL11, to ensure sufficient Open Space is provided for residents.

6.82 Policy WE11: Green Infrastructure requires, inter alia, that:

¢ residential development will provide at least 10 square metres (m?2) per dwellingof
childrens’ and young persons’ play space plus any specific requirements set out in a
site allocation policy;

e provision of about 100 square metres per dwelling of other forms of green
infrastructure, including playing pitches, allotments, parks, biodiversity enhancement
and natural greenspace;

e public open space should be designed as part of the overall green infrastructureand
layout of the site, taking advantage of the potential for multiple benefits including
enhanced play, wildlife, sustainable urban drainage, tree planting and landscape
provision. The form and function of green infrastructure will reflect a site’s
characteristics, nature, location and existing or future deficits;

6.83 The policy requirements have been broken down into open space classificationsbelow,
provided by TDC’s Open Space Officer:

Typology Primary Quantity m2 Requirement [On/off site open
Purpose Per dwelling  [in m2 basedon|space
Open Space (15 units
Requirement
m2

75



those people who
wish to do so to
grow their own
produce as part
of the long term
promotion of
sustainability,
health and social
inclusion.

Formal and Accessible, high- |17 255 On site
informal green |quality
space opportunities for \We would
informal recommend 255m?2
Parks and recreation and of onsite Formal
gardens community and informal green
events. space to be
provided on-site.
Natural and \Wildlife 50 150 On Site.
semi-natural  |conservation,
greenspaces [|biodiversity and
environmental
education and
awareness.
Provision for  [Areas designed |10 150 Given the nature of
childrenand  [primarily for play the site we would
young people [and social ask for a formal
interaction equipped toddler
involving children play area (LAP) to
and young be provided on site,
people, such as with an activity area
equipped play of not less than
areas, MUGAs, 150m2.
skateboard
areas and An off-site
teenage contribution, based
shelters. on 15 households,
would be £94,966,
to be spent on
improving existing
play areas in
Bishopsteignton.
This would be
secured through the
Section 106, in the
event it cannot be
provided on site.
Allotments Opportunities for |6 90 The size of the

development would
not generate a
requirement for a
full allotment
provision in line
with the Councils
recommended
design guidance
and therefore
consideration
should be given to:

Providing an onsite

community orchard

[0




of not less than
90m2 (cost of a
small orchard is set
at £127m2 capital
cost only
(excluding any land
purchase) section
106 wording below
, O

To seek an off site
contribution to the
sum of £11,430
(capital delivery
cost only excluding
land acquisition
and future
maintenance costs)

Active Outdoor sports |27 405 Given the scale of
Recreation facilities (with the development it
natural or is not considered
artificial surfaces) practical to expect
— including tennis the delivery of an
courts, bowling on-site active
greens, sport recreation
pitches, golf provision, therefore
courses, athletic we would
tracks, school recommend an off-
and other site contribution is
institutional sought in line
playing fields, with current Sport
and other outdoor England’s Sports
Sports areas; facility calculator:-
2.25 people per
dwelling in
Teignbridge

Provision off-site -
£14, 745 financial
contribution
towards sports
provision in
Teignbridge.

6.84 The northern slope of the site is to remain undeveloped to protect wider landscape views
into the site and therefore lends itself to becoming semi-natural amenity space. Whilst biodiversity
enhancements are to be made in this area, it will remain open for use by residents and therefore
can be used to meet the proposal’s green infrastructure requirements. This ‘undeveloped area’ is
approximately 2550m? and therefore can accommodate the required infrastructure on site which
totals 645m?, when including both the community orchard and children’s play space. Given the
preference to retain the landscape character of the top of the site, as this is the most visible
element, Formal and Amenity greenspace are unlikely to be appropriate. However, it is expected
that the full provision of natural and semi natural greenspace shall be provided on site, alongside
providing recreational opportunities where pc?s?ible, with details to be submitted at Reserved



Matters stage.

6.85 It is Officers’ preference that both a Toddler’s play provision and community orchard is
provided on site. However in the event this is not possible, a clause will be written into the Section
106 to ensure that off-site contributions are secured of £94,966 and £11,430 respectively.

6.86 An off-site contribution recommended by Sport England for formal sports facilities is
calculated at £14,745 and would be secured through theS106 agreement.

6.87 Further details of how the required Green Infrastructure and Open Space provision would be
provided, laid out, managed and maintained are secured through a recommended condition and
within the recommended Section 106 Agreement.

6.88 Therefore, subject to the off-site contribution and future management provisions of the
landscaped amenity area at the northern part of the site being secured through the Section
106 agreement, the proposed development is considered to offer an acceptable level of
informal and informal space in the development, which is acceptable with regards to the
requirements of policy WE11 (Green Infrastructure).

Carbon Reduction and Waste

6.89 Teignbridge District Council declared a climate emergency aiming to be carbon neutral
by 2025. Policies S7 and EN3 of the Local Plan set out requirements for new development to
reduce carbon emissions and provide a carbon reduction planto indicate how this could be
achieved. Policy S7 states the Council seeks to achieve a reduction in carbon emissions by
42% by 2030. This application was submitted in 2019, prior to the updated calculator being
prepared.

6.90 The Climate Change Officer has recommended the imposition of a condition prior to, or
as part of the submission of each reserved matters application (for that respective phase)
setting out how the requirements of policy S7 will be achieved. This is reflected in the formal
officer recommendation.

6.91 Policy W4 of the Devon Waste Plan requires that major applications are accompanied
by a waste audit statement to demonstrate how waste from the construction and operational
stages will be sustainably managed. As the end users of the employment units are yet to be
decided, a planning condition is recommended requiring a WasteAudit Statement to be
provided prior to the construction of each respective phase of development, setting out how
waste generated from each use would be managed.

6.92 The requirement for refuse collection points within 10 metres of adopted roads is set out
in the submitted plans and refuse collection plan. The main estate road is to be adopted
giving easy access for refuse collection and a swept path analysis showingaccess for a large
TDC refuse vehicle has been submitted. A planning condition is recommended requiring full
details, including proposals for maintenance and management of the storage area, of the bin
storage and collection area, prior to occupation of the live-work and commercial units. All
remaining dwellings would collect from the adopted roadside in front of each home. All plots
are provided with areas in rear gardens to store bins. The TDC Waste Officer has confirmed
these details are acceptable. They are also considered, in design terms, to meet the
requirements of the National Design Guide.

Contamination

6.93 The Council’s Environmental Health Team has raised no objection to the site being



developed, subject to soil sampling being undertaken prior to commencement, which would
be secured through a recommended condition. An additional condition is recommended
requiring an investigation and risk assessment being undertaken, together with any
necessary remediation strategy, in the event of contamination not previously having been
identified being found subsequently to be present on the site.

6.94 There is evidence of asbestos present on site. The Council’s Environmental Health
Officer has been advised of this. Advice received is that the presence of asbestos should not,
by itself, prevent the grating of any permission for redevelopment of the site but a condition
should be attached to any such grant of permission having due regard to the asbestos
presence. Tackling the identification, remediation and removal protocols for asbestos can be
included in a Construction Management Plan (CMP), as long as they are in keeping with the
current relevant approved guidance codes of practice and regulations concerning the
remediation of sites known to be contaminated with Asbestos. Such requirements as part of
a wider CMP condition are duly recommended. In this context, information to be submitted as
part of any such condition requirement would need to include:

e A site protocol for the investigation of the site, in particular the asbestos contamination
e A sampling program/rationale for the site, including sampling methodology.
¢ Human health risk assessments to demonstrate safety of site workers

¢ A remediation and validation scheme that will deliver the site such that it is suitably fit
for purposes/end use that is intended.

e The safe handling and licenced disposal of all asbestos waste from site
Education

6.95 Policy V3 in the emerging Local Plan requires, as one of its provisions, a contribution
towards secondary home to school transport. The County Education Authority has been
consulted with a request for clarification as to the financial amount being requested.

6.96 The County Education Authority has identified that the proposed increase of 9 family
type dwellings will generate an additional 2.25 primary pupils and 1.35 secondary pupils
which would have a direct impact on Bishopsteignton primary school and Teignmouth
Community School. In order to make the development acceptable in planning terms, an
education contribution to mitigate its impact will be requested. Currently, there is enough
spare capacity at the local primary and secondary schools for the pupils expected to be
generated by this development and therefore a contribution towards primary and secondary
education would not be sought. However, a contribution towards secondary school transport
costs would be required due to the development being 2.25miles from Teignbridge
Community School. The costs required are as follows:

1.35 Secondary pupils
£10.48 per day x 1.35 pupils x 190 academic days x 5 years = £13,440

6.97 The contribution above has been calculated based on the DCC contract cost of
transporting a pupil from the area of development to the named school. The number of
academic days and years is based on the number of term days in a school year and the
number of years a pupil will attend the school. The contribution will ensure pupils living within
the development will have school transport available for every year they are attending the
school. 79



The Planning Balance

6.98 In the determination of this application, the Planning Committee will need to balance the
benefits of delivering a Neighbourhood Development Plan allocated site, against the impacts
identified.

6.99 Using Government guidance on employment floor space per person, it is estimated that
up to 25 jobs would be created on site, based on the commercial-only floor space proposed.
This is in addition to employment activity within the live/work units. There is not currently a
figure available for the new Use Class E and therefore the former B1 Use Class has been
considered the most appropriate figure to estimate employment generated. Given that this
site was fundamentally allocated within the Bishopsteignton Neighbourhood Plan as an
employment generating site, it is recommended that the Committee gives significant weight
to this benefit.

6.100 The application site has been derelict for a number of years and the Bishopsteignton
NDP makes reference to this in that,

‘Bakers Yard presentsan unwelcome scene of dereliction at the western end of the village, it
also occupies a highly visible site in the Teign Estuary with the upper slopes particularly
prominent. Redevelopment provides an opportunity to visually improve the local
environment’.

6.101 The proposed development will visually enhance the site for both immediate
neighbours and wider views, albeit the proposed buildings are likely to be more visible from
wider views in the short-term. It is recommended that the Committee gives moderate weight
to this benefit.

6.102 The proposal would provide much needed 15 new homes.

6.103 The proposal does not offer any affordable housing, either on-site or by means of an
off-site financial contribution. An independentlyverified Viability Assessment has been
provided. Local Plan Policy WE2 states that, if independently verified evidence has been
submitted which proves that the affordable housing targets render the site undeliverable, a
reduced level of provision or other alterations to the scheme sufficient to bring it forward can
be negotiated. As such, Policy WE2 has been complied with. However, there is still a
significant need for affordable housing in Bishopsteignton and therefore it is recommended
that moderate weight is given to this matter.

6.104 The proposal would bring some economic benefits through construction and through the
additional spend generated by new residents,who would also help to sustain local services
and it is recommended thesebenefits are attributed moderate weight.

6.105 The majority of the proposed off-site highway improvements are not a requirement to
make the proposed development acceptable in policy terms but have been proposed to
improve and encourage pedestrian accessibility to existing and future public transport networks
by the way of bus services and the Teign Estuary Trail. The proposed crossing point would
connect the site to the future housing allocation V2 on the opposite side of Forder Lane and is
required by emerging Local Plan Policy V3. This is considered to encourage future residents
and employees of the site to use sustainable methods of transport instead of the private
vehicle. These improvements would therefore then benefit the wider community of
Bishopsteignton.

80



6.106 The proposed biodiversity improvements are in effect mitigation measures to be off set
against the ecological impacts of the development and the proposed enhancements should
be given moderate weight.

6.107 The impact on local landscape and the character of the area from longviews across the
Estuary would be moderate and lessen over time, as landscaping becomes more
established. In close views from Forder Lane these would be limited in the long term but may
have significant short-term localised impact. Visibility would be from a small number of
vantage points around the site and on the opposite side of the Teign Estuary and would
lessen over time. The development offers a high-quality environment with ecological buffers
and tree planting to be finalised at Reserved Matters stage. For this reason, it is
recommended that moderate weight is attributed to this harm, to be balanced against the
removal of the existing unsightly derelict condition of the site which would be remedied.

Conclusions

6.108 Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that
applications should be determined in accordance with the provisions of the Development Plan
unless other material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.109 The planning history of a site is a material consideration when determining the merits
of a development proposal -the more recent the history, the great the weight to be afforded to
the past planning decision/s. This current application is a re-submission of a previous
application ref 19/00800/MAJ which was an outline submission for the mixed use of the site
to include provision for Class E(g) uses and six residential flats/live-work units and nine
dwellings (approval sought for access and layout). The drawings and associated documents
associated with that application are very much the same as this current submission, including
access/highway works, layout, levels and indicative heights.

6.110 That application was considered by the Planning Committee on 22" May 2022. The
Committee determined to refuse the application for the sole reason that the proposed
development, by virtue of its relationship with day-to-day facilities in Bishopsteignton would
be likely to generate an increase in pedestrian traffic on a highway lacking adequate
footways with consequent additional danger to all users of the road. No reasons for refusal
were advanced for any other matters, including the principle of developing the site, layout,
impact on visual amenity, impact on residential amenity, contamination, flood risk,
biodiversity, green infrastructure/open space provision. As such, it is reasonable to conclude
that the Committee was content with such matters, otherwise further reasons for refusal
would have formed part of the May 2022 decision notice.

6.111 As such, mindful that the existing relevant policies in the adopted Local plan remain as
relevant when considering the merits of this current application as they were when the
previous application was determined, it is recommended to the Committee that there would
be no policy justification in terms of the adopted Local Plan, to now introduce any new
reasons for refusal since the May 2022 decision.

6.112 In respect of the emerging Teignbridge Local Plan 2020-2040, the weight to be
attributed to its content and policies is now greater than back in 2022. The Council will be
publishing Main Modifications to the Plan for a 6-week consultation period from early June.
Following which, responses will be sent to the Examination Inspectors and an Inspector’s
Report will be received by the Council in September with the Plan being adopted during the
autumn. As such, the site specific Policy V3: Bakers Yard and the Policy V2: Forder Lane
relating to the nearby allocated site both carry medium weight at this advanced stage of the
plan-making process, before receipt of the Ir:wl-spector’s Report — a far greater weight than was



the case at the time of the 2022 planning decision.

6.113 The application site is an allocated site in the made Bishopsteignton Neighbourhood
Development Plan and, whilst located outside of the settlement boundary, it is located on the
edge of the village and adjacent to existing residentialdevelopment. The site has been
derelict and in various states of disrepair for a number of years and this proposal presents an
opportunity to redevelop the site and provide a number of employment opportunities on site,
in line with the aspirations ofthe Bishopsteignton NDP. New dwellings are also proposed, in
the form of family-sized homes and live-work units. It is considered that the proposal
complies with all of the requirements as set out under NDP Policy BSE1 and therefore there
Is in principle policy support for the proposed development.

6.114 This site has proved challenging to progress in the past and this application will result
in significant economic development for Bishopsteignton as well as 15 new homes, which
weighs heavily in favour of the application in the planning balance. The harm that would arise
to landscape and the character of the area and the lack of affordable housing, would not
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the very substantial benefits the scheme would
provide in relation to employment generation, housing provision and the other identified
benefits, including off-site highway works. The proposal would amount to sustainable
development when assessed against the NPPF, taken as a whole and is also shown to
accord with polices of the Teignbridge Local Plans and Bishopsteignton Neighbourhood
Plan.

6.115 Therefore, subject to the proposed conditions and the Section 106 Heads of Terms
set out at the beginning of this report, it is recommended that outline planning permission be
granted.

7.POLICY DOCUMENTS
7.1 Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033 (TLP)

S1A (Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development)
S1 (Sustainable Development Criteria)

S2 (Quality Development)

S3 Land for Business, General Industry and Storage and Distribution)
S4 (Land for New Homes)

S6 (Resilience)

S7 (Carbon Emission Targets)

S9 (Sustainable Transport)

S22 (Countryside)

S23 (Neighbourhood Plans)

EC1 Business Development

WEZ1 (Housing Plan, Monitor and Manage)

WE2 (Affordable Housing Site Targets)

WE4 (Inclusive Design and Layout)

WE11 (Green Infrastructure)

EN2 (Undeveloped Coast)

ENZ2A (Landscape Protection and Enhancement)
EN3 (Carbon Reduction Plans)

EN4 (Flood Risk)

EN7 (Contaminated Land)

ENS8 (Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement)
EN9 (Important Habitats and Features) g2



EN10 (European Wildlife Sites)
EN11 (Legally Protected and Priority Species)
EN12 (Woodlands, Trees and Hedgerows)

7.2 Bishopsteignton Neighbourhood Development Plan
BSE1 Bakers Yard

7.3 Proposed Submission Teignbridge Local Plan 2020-2040
(Only relevant policies of medium to high weight have been listed.)

GP1: Sustainable Development (Medium weight)

GP3: Settlement Limits and the Countryside (Medium weight)
GP6A:Open Space and Recreation Facilities (Medium weight)
CCa3: Electric Vehicle Infrastructure (Medium Weight)

CC4: Sustainable Transport (Medium Weight)

CC5: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation (Medium Weight)
DW1: Quality Development (High Weight)

DW2: Development Principles (High Weight)

DWa3: Design Standards (High Weight)

ECL1: Business Development (Medium Weight)

EC5: Working from Home (High Weight)

ECS8: High Speed Digital Networks (Medium Weight)

H3: Affordable Housing Controls (Medium Weight)

H5: Homes Suitable for all (Medium Weight)

H12: Residential Amenity (High Weight)

ENL1: Setting of Settlements (Medium weight)

EN4: Landscape Protection and Enhancement (High Weight)
ENG6: Flood Risk and Water Quality (High Weight)

EN7: Air Quality (High Weight)

ENS: Light Pollution (High Weight)

EN9: Contaminated Land/ Land Instability (High Weight)
EN10: Biodiversity and Geodiversity (Medium Weight)

EN11: Important Habitats and Features (High to Medium Weight)
EN12: Legally Protected and Priority Species (Medium Weight)
EN13: European Wildlife Sites (High Weight)

EN15: South Hams SAC (High Weight)

EN16: Trees, Hedges and Woodlands

7.4 Habitat Regulations

7.5 Devon Waste Plan

W4 Waste Prevention

7.6 National Planning Policy Framework (2024)

7.7 National Planning Practice Guidance

8.CONSULTEES

8.1 A brief summary of the up-to-date consultee responses are listed below. A full set of
complete responses is available to view on the Council’s website.



8.2 Biodiversity Officer

A contribution of £1,103 per new dwelling is required towards mitigation of in combination
recreation impacts on Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar site and Dawlish Warren SAC. For 15 units
this is £16,545, to be secured through the Section 106 agreement.

A Habitats Regulations screening for Likely Significant Effect on the South Hams SAC
concluded that, as the proposal is within the LCZ rather than a Sustenance Zone, Significant
Effects are Unlikely. Therefore, an Appropriate Assessment of the proposal IS NOT
necessary.

Conditions relating to mitigation and compensation measures for bats and other protected
species are required to be secured by condition.

8.3 Housing Enabling Officer

If the site ceases to be employment led and is residential led it is even more important that
‘other alterations to the scheme’ as per policy WE2b are fully explored and are up to date so
that affordable housing for locally qualifying households can be provided on site.

A full application should be supported by a new housing need survey.

This site needs to demonstrate how ‘other alterations’ in line with WE2 b have been explored so
that it can deliver 4 affordable homes.

The evidenced need suggests a fully policy compliant scheme would require 4 affordable
homes with a suggested mix of:

a. Two (2) @one beds affordable rented homes as a maisonettes with a ground floor built to
Part M 4 (2).

b. One three (3) bed home as an affordable rented home.

c. One shared ownership as a two-bed home

There is no evidence that the affordable need can be met by combining with the live work units.
If provision cannot be made on site policy does permit an off-site financial contribution.

However, given the difficulties in identifying a suitable site for provision of affordable homes
every effort should be made to deliver affordable homes that meet the priority needs from
locally, qualifying households on site.

8.4 Devon County Council Highways

Off-site highways works are proposed to improve pedestrian accessibility to public transport
options on the A381, with bus travel through to Teignmouth to the east and Kingsteignton
and Newton Abbot to the west. These works were proposed as part of the previous
application 19/00800/MAJ and were accompanied by a stage 1 safety audit.

One of the recommendations of that audit included a review of the central double white
lining. This will need to be accessed by Devon County Council’s Traffic Team. If they think it
warrants further investigation, and ultimately requires changing, then a contribution of £5000
will be required. Any monies not spent will be returned to the applicant.

Should the planning permission be approved then any works on the public highway will be
subject to a Section 278 Agreement.

84



The only real issue with Bakers Yard is the lack of an active travel provision to the village
centre. The recommended Grampian condition obviously secures that.

8.5 Devon County Council Education

Currently forecast that there is enough spare capacity at the local primary and secondary
schools for the pupils expected to be generated by this development and therefore a
contribution towards primary and secondary education would not be sought.

Require a contribution towards secondary school transport costs due to the development being
2.25 miles from Teignbridge Community School. The costs required are as follows: -1.35
Secondary pupils - £10.48 per day x 1.35 pupils x 190 academic days x 5 years = £13,440

The contribution has been calculated based on the DCC contract cost of transporting a pupil
from the area of development to the named school. The number of academic days and years is
based on the number of term days in a school year and the number of years a pupil will attend
the school. The contribution will ensure pupils living within the development will have school
transport available for every year they are attending the school.

All contributions will be subject to indexation using BCIS, it should be noted that education
infrastructure contributions are based on June 2020 rates and any indexation applied to
contributions requested should be applied from this date.

The amount requested is based on established educational formulae (which related to the
number of primary and secondary age children that are likely to be living in this type of
accommodation). It is considered that this is an appropriate methodology to ensure that the
contribution is fairly and reasonably related in scale to the development proposed which
complies with CIL Regulation 122.

In addition to the contribution figures quoted above, the County Council would wish to recover
legal costs incurred as a result of the preparation and completion of the Agreement.

8.6 Devon County Council — Lead Local Flood Authority

Surface Water Management scheme is acceptable subject to further details submitted at
Reserved Matters stage.

The applicant has stated that South West Water is able to adopt the proposed drainage
network, apart from the proposed pipe at the entrance of the site. However, the applicant
should clarify who proposed to maintain and adopt that pipe.

Any temporary or permanent works that need to take place within the ordinary watercourse
to facilitate the proposed development (such as an access culvert or bridge), Land Drainage
Consent must be obtained from Devon County Council’s Flood and Coastal Risk
Management Team prior to any works commencing.

8.7 Environmental Health — Contaminated Land

Recommends unsuspected contamination, soil sampling, and asbestos protocol conditions.
8.8 Devon County Council Waste

it is recommended that a condition is attached to any consent to require the submission of a
Waste Audit Statement prior to the commencement of the development as stated below.



8.9 Teignbridge District Council Waste

As long as the access roads are indeed adopted as suggested, our collections crews should
be able to access the site and turn.

The council would be expected to collect waste from the residential elements of the live-work
units, with our standard collection containers. However, the occupiers would need to also
have a separate commercial waste collection for their business generated waste, with
separate containers for collection. This will need to be considered for the space provided for
container storage for these units for these six units proposed.

8.10 Designing Out Crime Officer

Various comments and recommendations relating to the design of the scheme, to be
considered by the applicant as the design progresses.

9 REPRESENTATIONS

9.1 At the time of compiling this report, 16 representations have been received, 13 raising
objections, and 3 with neutral comments. The representations can be viewed in full on the
application webpage and the points raised have been summarised in no particular order with
the below comments. It should be noted that many of the representations referred to issues
with the ‘Active Travel Route’ proposed in the previous application. This element of the
scheme does not form part of this application and therefore comments relating to it have not
been included below.

e Swift nest bricks should be incorporated onto all buildings.

e Concerns regarding pedestrian access

e Children or those unable to drive, who in the dark and/or inclement weather would be
compelled to walk on the main road which, from past experience, is very dangerous.

e Little detail of the buildings and construction materials

¢ Not enough affordable homes.

e Big development in small plot with associated traffic with live to work units, which is
not sustainable. The only access to the units will be by transport overloading an
already busy junction with road safety concerns. Newton Road is documented as one
of the most dangerous roads in Devon according to Devon Highways documents.

e Not in line with employment green credentials of Teignmouth overall. The increased
volume of vehicles is substantial, and the poor access will inevitably lead to more
village traffic compounding the current issues. The footpath realistically is unlikely to
be used to any significant level.

e The benefits are unlikely to be felt by the village.

e This is a Devon coastal village on landscape of outstanding beauty. This should be
preserved.

e The Bakers yard area is the entrance to the village and the first site of the village
should not be an industrial estate with busy carparks next to Teignmouth estuary. It is
not a logical place for industrial units and they are unlikely to provide good
employment given the location/ access etc. It would result in a significantly adverse
visual impact to Bishopsteignton.

e There is a lot of building occurring in Devon. We need to ensure that appropriate
locations are chosen and we do not spoil the very thing Devon is famous for
i.e...'villages'

86



There have been concerns raised about contamination of the Bakers Yard land, with
asbestos and other materials. The Council have been contacted regarding
groundwork alterations and movement of soil potentially from different sites. There is
no evidence of a decontamination report. With significant groundworks modification
the accuracy of any report may also raise concerns.

Bakers Yard within Flood Zone 1 within 20 metres of a watercourse. The flood risk
assessment is nearly 3 years out of date and the current plans have increased the site
size , therefore potentially affecting the flood risk. Forder Lane regularly floods, in fact
this winter there has been considerable flooding along Newton Road. This is a current
issue as well as there being periods that Forder Lane is impassable in a small car due
to flooding. This has not been addressed.

There is a significant loss of ecological habitats with the hedges, 2 types of bats, slow
worm breeding (as noted in reports), this village needs to remain as village supporting
its coastal ecosystem.

The current proposal clearly will impose/ overlook existing properties nearby and a
smaller scale development would be more appropriate.

Overlooking/loss of privacy/overbearing. The land to the front of the proposed
development site sits over 1.5 metres above the land bordering onto Orchard Cottage
and the proposed row of live to work units and two industrial units sitting close to our
boundary would have a serious impact on our privacy as any proposed building would
look directly into our main living area which includes large outdoor patios, swimming
pool and our main lounge area. Article 8 of the Human Rights Act protects your right
to enjoy your existing home peacefully. Industrial development and live to work units
will severely impact these rights.

Bishopsteignton is a nice quiet Devon village. Any industrial development will lead to
light and noise polution. The village consists of retirees or commuters, so neither
would benefit from work to live units. This would spoil the features of Bishopsteignton
as a quiet village nestled in the estuary slopes.

Design/effect on appearance of area. To have a row of what can only be described as
terraced houses sitting on the main entry to the village in no way enhances the local
area and will have a huge impact on the visual nature of an area of outstanding
beauty.

Noise/Disturbance/flooding. Industrial units directly adjacent to Orchard Cottage living
area will severely impact the tranquil nature of countryside living and add to residents’
frustrations. With Forder Lane being the main access to the village the probable
increase in goods vehicles, trucks etc. will greatly impact on entry and exit onto the
A301.

Trees/biodiversity. Noise pollution from the live to work units and industrial units will
greatly affect the already fragile nature in this area.

This current ‘revised’ application evidently varies in only one detail from the original
submission in 2019, which was unanimously refused by the full Planning Committee.
How can the entrance to the village aspect not be seriously effected, as the original
buildings on this site were one story in height. As such, not visible behind the large,
existing hedging.

Apart from the Commercial Units and two-storey dwellings, the Work/Life units will
evidently have to be three storeys in height. Together with possible noise from the
various commercial units, will this not destroy the present’ natural country’ approach to
our historic village by replacing it with an urbanised, grossly overbearing Visual/Audio
entrance?

It is proposed that there are 66 car park spaces & 30 cycle spaces, however there are
not this amount of car park spaces shown nor are there any cycle spaces shown on
the plans.

The live/work units will be impossible to control and police and will lead to full

87



residential use with ancillary office/studio. E (g) (business use) can change to C3
(dwelling houses) through Permitted Development without the need for planning
permission.

e Safe access needs to be considered by widening Forder Lane with a pedestrian
footpath to make this proposal viable.

e The development is too large.

e We have a legal interest in land identified as V2 in the emerging Local Plan recently
submitted to the SoS for examination. We neither support, nor object to, the proposal.
The requirement for a footpath beyond that associated with any development on V2 to
service this application (should the proposal to impose a grampian condition, arguably
prematurely, be accepted by the LPA) and not V2, should be funded by the applicant
on the Bakers Yard site. If conditional approval is given to this application, we
consider that a sum of money should be secured to deliver around 170 metres of
public footway on the V2 site to deliver the Bakers Yard site (on the basis that this is
the approximate measurement as shown on drawing number 6406.005 from the
boundary to the proposed access road on V2. We are happy to work with the
applicant to quantify this so that there can be certainty on delivery and that this sum is
secured through the s106 agreement.

10.TOWN / PARISH COUNCIL’S COMMENTS
10.1 Bishopsteignton Parish Council (January 2024)

Bishopsteignton Parish Council object to the proposals at this prominent gateway to the
village of Bishopsteignton for the following reasons some reiterated from previous comments
to previous application on the same property/land:

There is no provision for safe pedestrian access to and from the site; in turn this leads to
compromised road safety for vehicles using this stretch of road. In its consultation response,
DCC Highways indicate the dangerous mix of pedestriansand vehicles including HGVs due to
Forder Lane serving as a district distributor road for Bishopsteignton. However, there seems
to be a change of opinion or perspective from Devon Highways who are now in negotiations
with the developer under a section 278 agreement despite there being no clearly defined
proposals of how these issues will be solved. When will drawings/plans of this improvement
be available, and will there be an opportunity to comment on them?

Will this provide a much-needed footway to toward the village centre? Whilst the effort to
improve pedestrian access to bus stops is noted and appreciated the Parish Council still feel
the proposed layout of the junction of Forder Lane and the Newton Road (A381) is
inadequate to cope with the potential increase in both vehicular and pedestrian traffic, and
that safety is still compromised.

Bishopsteignton Parish Council acknowledge that the BNDP is silent on the possible
inclusion of affordable housing at this site specifically however the development does not
address the generally expressed desire of parishioners for more affordable housing in the
parish.

Despite BNDP policy BSE1, Bishopsteignton Parish Council now wish to question the
usefulness and potential marketability / interest in live-work units in the current economic
climate and can this provision be justified over an affordable housing provision.

There are concerns over the significant increase of the development zone, beyond the
originally outline shown in appendix A9 of BNDP8§his is apparent when comparing this



appendix with the revised Block Plan, and almost three of the larger properties, including the
garden curtilage for each is outside of the original development zone. Further reduction of
the primary landscape zone could be detrimental on many levels such as the visual impact of
the loss of natural environment, reduced support for biodiversity due to the loss of natural
habitat, and the increased the risk of flooding due to surface run-off.

The decontamination of this land and how this will be handled still does not appear to be
resolved. It is hoped that recommendations made by the Principal Environmental Health
Officer of Teignbridge District Council, in their consultation response dated 21.05.19 on the
last application (19/00800/MAJ) be acted upon.

Flooding — Previous comments from a DCC Flood and Coastal Risk Officer regarding the
original surface water drainage management system which made a relevant suggestion to
resolve this to some extent however this has not been addressed by the applicant. In relation
to the suggestion the delegated case officer, in their report to TDC Planning Committee, is
recommending the matter be dealt with under reserved matters. If repeated, his would be
considered unsatisfactory due to the potential detrimental impact on neighbouring properties
and that the adjacent highway is known to flood in times of excessive rainfall; often rendering
it impassable.

The calculated greenfield runoff rate is unlikely to be accurate anymore, as the proposed
extension to the development zone has been introduced.

11.COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY

11.1 As this is an Outline application, CIL liability will be calculated upon submission ofany
future Reserved Matters applications.

12 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

12.1 Due to its scale, nature and location this development will not have significant effects on
the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA Development.

13 BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN

13.1 Biodiversity net gain is a legal requirement for planning permissions. Planning
applications are required to either provide detailed information proving there will be a
biodiversity increase of 10% or explain why they are exempt from doing so. Unless exempt,
planning permission is subject to the general Biodiversity Gain Condition (as set out in
Paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)).

13.2 This development is exempt from the general Biodiversity Gain Condition because the
application was submitted on 23" May 2023 which falls before the key date of 12 February
2024, whereafter major developments are required to provide mandatory 10% biodiversity
net gain. As such, mandatory 10% net gain is not required for this development.

14 CARBON/ CLIMATE IMPACT

14.1 The Carbon and Climate impact of this development has been considered in the
Observations section of this report, and su%gct to conditions, the development isconsidered



to satisfactorily address these matters.

15 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

15.1 The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights Act,
and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. ThisAct gives
further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on HumanRights. In arriving
at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable
development rights and expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the
wider community interests, as expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan
and Central Government Guidance.

Head of Development Management

90



Agenda ltem 7
TEIGNBRIDGE COUNCIL DISTRICT

PLANNING COMMITTEE

CHAIRMAN: ClIr Colin Parker

DATE:

27 May 2025

REPORT OF:

Head of Development Management

SUBJECT:

Appeal Decisions received during previous calendar month

24/00014/REF

24/00049/REF

24/00057/REF

24/00058/REF

DAWLISH - Brook House Church Street

Appeal against the refusal of planning application 23/01227/FUL
Reduce the height of the boundary wall, reduce a large flower
bed and remove three small flower beds to provide additional
parking and re-alignment of wall

Appeal Dismissed. Delegated Decision

NEWTON ABBOT - 33 Moorland View Newton Abbot
Appeal against the refusal of planning application 23/01481/FUL
Dwelling

Appeal Dismissed. Delegated Decision

IDEFORD - Homefield Ideford
Appeal against the refusal of 23/02168/FUL - Retention of
driveway entrance, piers and gate

Appeal Dismissed. Delegated Decision

BICKINGTON - Land At Chipley Mill Bickington

Appeal against the refusal of planning application 22/01348/FUL
Retention of change of use of agricultural land to education use
(Class F1) in association with Greater Horseshoe School and
retention of associated ancillary buildings and structures

Appeal Dismissed. Delegated Decision

91




24/00059/REF

24/00069/FAST

24/00068/REF

25/00005/FAST

DENBURY AND TORBRYAN - Pumps Acre Greenhill Lane
Appeal against the refusal of planning application 24/00545/0UT
Outline application for the demolition of the existing holiday chalet
and the construction of up to three residential dwellings, with all
matters reserved except for vehicular access

Appeal Allowed. Committee Decision
Committee overturned officer recommendation to approve

TEIGNMOUTH - 9 Foresters Terrace Teignmouth
Appeal against the refusal of planning application 24/01140/HOU
First floor extension

Appeal Dismissed. Delegated Decision

STOKEINTEIGNHEAD - Honey Barn Honey Lane

Appeal against the refusal of planning application 24/00502/FUL
Change of use of agricultural land to residential land and
extension to south of existing building

Appeal Dismissed. Delegated Decision

TEIGNMOUTH - Teign Lawn Cottage First Drive

Appeal against the refusal of planning application 24/01768/HOU
Replacement of single glazed wooden frame windows with
double glazed UPVC units

Appeal Dismissed. Delegated Decision

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE FULL TEXT OF THESE APPEAL DECISIONS IS
AVAILABLE ON THE COUNCIL'S WEBSITE

92



Agenda ltem 8
TEIGNBRIDGE COUNCIL DISTRICT

PLANNING COMMITTEE

CHAIRMAN: ClIr Colin Parker

DATE: 27 May 2025

REPORT OF: | Head of Development Management

SUBJECT: Major variation applications approved in previous calendar month
24/02110/MAJ KINGSTEIGNTON - Land At Ngr 285403 76278

Horsemills

associated access, parking, servicing,
landscaping, tree and nature conservation

use, light industrial units

Variation of conditions 2, 5, 10, 11, 14, 15, 19, 22, 29 on
planning permission 21/02590/MAJ (Development of a
sustainable, off-site manufacturing facility (Class B2) and
business park comprising a range of flexible light
industrial and warehouse units (Class B8 and E(g)(ii) and
(ii)) and small studio, office, R&D and workshop units
(Class E(g), E(c) and B8), a farm cafe (Class E(b)) and

drainage,
planting,

wetland and meadow) to amend the unit number and mix
to increase the proportion and number of smaller flexible

VARY CONDITION APPROVAL

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE FULL TEXT OF THESE DECISIONS IS AVAILABLE ON

THE COUNCIL'S WEBSITE

93




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	6a 23/00305/MAJ - Shell Cove, Dawlish
	Front Page 23.00305.MAJ.pdf (p.1-2)
	23.00305.MAJ - Shell Cove.pdf (p.3-31)

	6b 23/00911/MAJ - Bakers Yard , Bishopsteignton
	Front Page 23.00911.MAJ.pdf (p.1-2)
	23.00911.MAJ.pdf (p.3-51)

	7 Appeal Decisions - to note appeal decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate.
	8 S73 Major Decisions Summary

